

Screening Natural Compound Extracts for Potential Anti-cancer Activity on Glioblastoma Cell Line U251MG

By Aparna Bindu

Supervised by: Dr. Sunita Ramesh

Co-supervised by: Prof. Andrea J Yool

Thesis BTEC 9000A-F (27 units) Submitted to Flinders University for the degree of

Master of Biotechnology

College of Medicine and Public Health 21 December 2021

TABLE OF CONTENTS

TABLE OF CONTENTS
LIST OF ABBREVIATED TERMS
CLINICAL NOMENCLATURE
ABSTRACT V
DECLARATION
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS VI
LIST OF FIGURES
LIST OF TABLES
INTRODUCTION
Classification of GBM
Heterogeneity in GBM
Cancer stem cells in GBM
Cell motility in cancerous and non-cancerous cells
Current treatment strategies and challenges
Rationale and techniques followed in the study10
Hypotheses and aims of the study1
MATERIALS AND METHODS1
Cell line used1
NatureBank Compounds1
Kushen roots harvesting and processing1
Maintaining U251-MG cells in culture media1
Reanimation and cryopreservation of U251-MG cells1
Transwell invasion assay14
Cytotoxicity assay with NatureBank compounds1
Statistical analysis1
RESULTS
Screening NatureBank compounds for inhibition of invasiveness using transwell invasion assay
Testing cytotoxicity of the identified NatureBank compounds on U251-MG cell line19
Dose response and half maximal inhibitory concentrations of four of the identified compounds
Evaluating cytotoxicity of prepared Kushen root extracts on U251-MG cell line
Testing the prepared extracts for any inhibitory action on invasion of U251-MG cell line using transwell invasion assay2
DISCUSSION

	Summary of findings	27
]	NatureBank compounds decoded: discussion on the identified compounds based on available literature	27
]	Extracts from Sophora flavescens root inhibit invasion of U251-MG cells	31
]	Limitations of current study	32
]	Future direction	33
BIB	LIOGRAPHY	34
APP	ENDICES	47
]	Resuspending NatureBank compounds for initial screening	47
]	Resuspending dried Kushen samples for experiments	47
]	Resuspension volume calculation for transwell invasion assay	48
]	Resuspending U251-MG cells for cryo-preservation	48
]	Resuspending NatureBank compounds for dose response experiments	49
]	Repurposing used inserts for experiments	49

LIST OF ABBREVIATED TERMS

2D-2 dimensional 3D-3 dimensional ANOVA- Analysis of variance CGH- Comparative genomic hybridisation **CKI-** Compound Kushen Injection CNS- Central nervous system CO₂- Carbon dioxide **CPT-** Camptothecins CSC- Cancer stem cell DMEM- Dulbecco's modified eagle medium DMSO- Dimethyl sulfoxide DYRK- dual specificity tyrosine regulated kinase ECM- Extra cellular matrix EGF- epidermal growth factor EGFR- Epidermal growth factor receptor FAK- Focal adhesion kinase FBS- Foetal bovine serum GA- Gallic acid GABRA1- Gamma- aminobutyric acid receptor subunit alpha-1 GBM- Glioblastoma multiforme GRIDD- Griffith Institute for Drug Discovery

- HGF- Hepatocyte growth factor
- HIF-1α- Hypoxia- inducible factor 1 alpha
- IC₅₀- Half maximal inhibitory concentration
- mGlu- metabotropic glutamate receptor
- NEFL- Neurofilament light gene
- NF1- Neurofibromatosis-1
- OS- Overall survival
- PBS- Phosphate buffer saline
- PDGF- Platelet derived growth factor
- PDGFRA- Platelet derived growth factor receptor alpha
- PTEN- Phosphatase and tensin homologue
- SYT1- Synaptotagmin-1
- TCM- Traditional Chinese Medicine
- TMZ- Temozolomide
- UV- Ultraviolet
- VEGF- Vascular endothelial growth factor
- WHO- World health organisation
- XA- Xanthurenic acid

CLINICAL NOMENCLATURE

Invasion- Process by which motile cancer cells penetrate directly through the extra cellular matrix into surrounding tissues (Hammarström, 1999).

Metastasis/migration- Mechanism through which cancer cells from the primary tumour detach themselves and establish a secondary tumour at a different part of the body (Hapach et al., 2019).

Tumour microenvironment- A dynamic environment around the tumour which constantly interacts with the tumour and promotes tumour progression. Microenvironment typically constitutes of immune cells, blood vessels surrounding the tumour, signalling molecules and fibroblasts (Whiteside, 2008).

Adjuvant therapy- Use of therapeutic agents following primary treatment of cancer (i.e., chemotherapy, surgery, or radiation therapy) to maximise the effectiveness of the primary treatment or reduce the risk of recurrence (Tse et al., 2021)

ABSTRACT

Glioblastoma multiforme is the most malignant and aggressive form of brain cancer in adults. Its highly invasive nature results in poor prognoses and even with the best treatment, median survival of patients is 15 months. Current treatments involving surgical resection, radiotherapy and temozolomide (TMZ) have remained unchanged since 2005. Bioactive compounds extracted from plants, fungi and marine invertebrates have been a source of natural compounds used to treat many diseases and pathologies.

This study investigated the potential of root extracts of a traditional Chinese medicinal herb *Sophora flavescens* (Kushen) and a library of natural compound extract fractions from NatureBank in inhibiting glioblastoma cell invasion using U251MG cells. In the first aim, transwell invasion assay used to screen NatureBank compound extract library identified twenty compounds that inhibited invasion of U251MG cells (invasion percentages from 6.5% to 53%). In the second aim, all the twenty compounds were tested for cytotoxicity at different concentrations (0.03 to 1 μ M). No cytotoxicity was detected for any of the compounds. Four compounds (3-Methylbut-3-enyl-O-a-L-rhamno-pyranosyl-(1-6)-O-b-D-glucopyranoside; Xanthurenic acid and two novel compounds) were selected for further study. Half maximal inhibitory concentrations (IC₅₀) of these compounds ranged from 0.24 to 0.43 μ M. In the third aim, root extracts of Kushen were tested for their effect on limiting invasion of U251MG cells. A concentration of 50 μ g/ml was effective in inhibiting invasion of cells by 57%.

The outcomes of this study are the identification of 20 natural compounds that were effective in limiting glioblastoma invasion. Further work needs to be conducted to identify the mode of action of these compounds.

DECLARATION

I certify that this thesis does not incorporate without acknowledgment any material previously submitted for a degree or diploma in any university; and that to the best of my knowledge and belief it does not contain any material previously published or written by another person except where due reference is made in the text.

Aparna Bindu

21st December 2021

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to express my humble gratitude to my supervisors Dr. Sunita Ramesh and Prof. Andrea Yool for the help and support provided throughout for the successful completion of my project. I would like to thank A/Prof. Munish Puri, the topic co-ordinator for organising the topic and all the support provided. I would also like to thank Alanah Varricchio and Hayden Gillings for their help and support.

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1: GBM classification by World Health Organisation based on histology2
Figure 2: Different models of cancer progression
Figure 3: Different possible ways in which Cancer Stem Cells contribute to tumour heterogeneity5
Figure 4: Transwell membrane insert during tranwell invasion assay11
Figure 5: Cell counts expressed as invasion percentage with respect to DMSO controls after treating with different NatureBank compounds on U251-MG cell line
Figure 6: A comparison of the identified compounds between U251MG and U87MG19
Figure 7: U251-MG cells fixed with 70% ethanol and stained with 0.2% crystal violet under microscope (10x magnification)
Figure 8: Cell viability assessed using Alamar Blue assay to identify any cytotoxic effect of the identified compounds
Figure 9: Cell viability assessed using Alamar Blue assay to identify any cytotoxic effect of the identified compounds
Figure 10:Cell viability assessed using Alamar Blue assay to identify any cytotoxic effect of the identified compounds
Figure 11:Dose response curves for compounds SN618, SN362, SN631, SN56524
Figure 12: Cell viability assessed by Alamar Blue assay for different Kushen extracts prepared25
Figure 13: Kushen root extracts at 2µg/ml for transwell assays to identify any inhibitory action on invasion of U251-MG cells
Figure 14:: Kushen root extracts at 50µg/ml for transwell assays to identify any inhibitory action on invasion of U251-MG cells

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1: Plate layout for the screened plate of compounds received from NatureBank
Table 2: SN codes and corresponding trivial names of the compounds as identified by NatureBank.
Table 3: Components of freezing mix for cryogenic preservation of cells

INTRODUCTION

Glioma refers to all forms of tumours that originate from glial cells. Their general characteristics include uncontrollable cell proliferation, diffuse infiltration, predilection towards necrosis, intense angiogenesis, lower rate of apoptosis and high genomic instability (Claes et al., 2007). According to World Health Organisation's (WHO) classification, there are four different types of gliomas. These are astrocytic tumour grades I, II, III and IV(Glioblastoma) (Anjum et al., 2017). Grade IV glioma or Glioblastoma Multiforme (GBM) is the most aggressive tumour of the Central Nervous System. GBM is widely known for its poor prognosis and lower patient survival rates. It is also the most common out of the four types in humans. In 2018, it was the 10th most common cause of death by cancer in Australia (Cancer Australia, 2018). While around 60% of brain tumours are de-novo (primary), 40% of them are malignant tumours (Anjum et al., 2017). The median survival rate for GBM ranges from 5 to 15 months after initial diagnosis. The 5-year survival rate ranges from 0-5%, i.e., only 5% of the patients diagnosed with GBM live for 5 years (Tran and Rosenthal, 2010).

About 5% of patients inherit the risk of the disease whereas all the other cases arise sporadically without any specific association with heredity (Farrell and Plotkin, 2007). Most of these malignant tumours occur as a result of sequential accumulation of genetic mutations. Abnormal regulation of growth factor signalling pathways also adds up to cause these malignant tumours. Growth factors/ molecules like vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), epidermal growth factor (EGF), platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF), hepatocyte growth factor (HGF) regulate these sporadic proliferations (Alifieris and Trafaris, 2015).

Classification of GBM

The WHO classification of different grades of gliomas is mostly based on histology and immunohistochemistry. Out of the WHO classification, oligodendrogliomas (Grade II) have more favourable prognosis than glioblastoma as they are more chemo sensitive (Burger, 2002). However, apart from cases with distinct histological features, high grade gliomas show very little cellular differentiation. Therefore, characterizing GBM with histological features can lead to incorrect diagnosis. Every tumour varies from the other to great extent making diagnosis of such non-classical cases risky and controversial. This makes the accuracy and reproducibility of these non-classical diagnoses questionable (Nutt et.al., 2003; Burger, 2002). Such high level of interpersonal variability calls for a different basis of classification of these tumours which would result in effective prognosis.

Based on genetic and biological differences, glioblastomas can be divided into two types, primary and secondary glioblastomas. Primary glioblastomas are usually found in people older than 50 years and are caused mainly by mutations and amplification of EGFR. Loss of heterozygosity of chromosome 10q, deletion of phosphatase and tensin homologue of chromosome 10 (PTEN) and p16 deletion are also some of the other reasons for cause of primary glioblastoma (Wen and Kesari, 2008). Secondary glioblastomas are lesser prevalent and are mostly detected in younger patients as compared to primary. They manifest as anaplastic astrocytomas and transform into glioblastomas (secondary) with time. Secondary glioblastomas are characterised by mutations in tumour suppressor gene p53 and by overexpression of PDGFR (Watanabe et.al., 1996). Even though they are genetically different, primary, and secondary glioblastoma are morphologically similar and indistinguishable. They respond similarly to conventional therapy but may respond differently to targeted molecular therapy.



Figure 1: GBM classification by World Health Organisation based on histology (Perry and Wesseling, 2016). Reprinted with permission from Elsevier Books.

In their effort to better understand and classify GBM cells, researchers around the globe have been working on high dimensional profiling studies, gene expression studies (Nutt et al., 2003; Freije et al., 2004). Features such as gene expression signatures (such as EGFR overexpression), somatic mutations and DNA copy number studies are believed to be more efficient in predicting patient outcomes as compared to histology alone (Persano et al., 2013). Verhaak et. al., 2010, classified GBM based on somatic mutations, gene expression and DNA copy numbers. This led to classifying GBM as neural, proneural, classical and mesenchymal subtypes.

The neural subtype is characterised typically by expression of neuronal markers such as Neurofilament light gene (NEFL), Gamma-aminobutyric acid receptor subunit alpha-1 (GABRA1), Synaptotagmin 1 (SYT1). A key characteristic of proneural subtype was found as focal amplification of the chromosomal locus 4q12 which houses platelet derived growth factor receptor alpha gene (PDGFRA) and thereby a higher expression of PDGFRA. The mesenchymal subtype is defined by deletion of regions of chromosome 17 in only one of the loci or abnormal expression of the neurofibromatosis 1 gene (NF1) in general. The Classical subtype can be identified by chromosome 7 amplification together with chromosome 10 loss and four-fold high expression of EGFR gene (Verhaak et. al., 2010). Identification of these specific gene expression patterns in different subtypes can be potentially used to target specific subset of tumour cell types in a heterogenous tumour mass. However, no such treatment strategy is available currently.

Heterogeneity in GBM

Like other tumours, GBM is also highly heterogeneous. Studies as early as 1981 have reported remarkable differences in karyotype among freshly isolated clinical specimens (Bonavia et al., 1981). A study by Wilkstrand et al. in 1983 in a commercial cell line including 8 of its single cell derived clones showed heterogeneity in tumour associated antigens. Inter tumour heterogeneity can be described as two tumours, either within the same patient or in different patients behave or respond differently to therapy. Intra tumour heterogeneity occurs when cells within the same tumour behave or respond differently to a drug (Anjum et al., 2017). This heterogeneity often results in cancers with varying morphologies, growth rates and most importantly, their response to therapeutic drugs (Yung et al., 1982).

Intratumor heterogeneity may arise from clonal expansion of GBM cells during tumour progression. Another possible reason for heterogeneity within a tumour could be selective pressure resulting from factors like therapy (Steiber et al., 2014). Increasing evidence suggests that intra-tumoral heterogeneity arises from a genetic level. The role of Epidermal Growth factor Receptor variant III (EGFRvIII) in the progression of GBM is very well studied. EGFRvIII was found to influence normal cells in the surrounding by stimulating different paracrine mechanisms and promotes tumour growth (Nishikawa et al., 2004). However, these mutant receptors are found only in a subpopulation of tumour cells (Inda et al., 2010). Area-specific clonal diversity in GBM was confirmed by FISH analysis (Snuderl et al., 2011) and by comparative genomic hybridisation (CGH) and expression profiling (Sottoriva et al., 2013). This level of variation within a tumour mass makes it challenging to devise an effective standard treatment strategy for GBM. This also suggests that treating GBM should be a synergistic approach rather than targeting single subset of molecular markers.

Cancer stem cells in GBM

A high level of heterogeneity in GBM led to the search for a particular cell type to target and treat GBM. This led to the discovery of multipotent cancer stem cells (CSCs). Glioblastoma multiforme was one of the cancers in which cancer stem cells were identified (Facchino et al., 2011). The discovery of cancer stem cells has been a milestone in understanding the pathogenesis of the disease. There are multipotent neural stem cells in the Central Nervous System (CNS), which can proliferate, differentiate, and self-renew-identifying such cells led to the hypothesis that some of these transformed cells, which are precisely like a somatic stem cell, could behave as a tumour initiating cell or a cancer stem cell (CSC) (Facchino et al., 2011). CSCs have also been identified as the reason behind tumour reversal and relapse. CSCs express a membrane glycoprotein called CD133, which is well characterised and is used as a biomarker for isolating CSCs (Singh et al., 2004). CD133 activates the Wnt pathway, leading to increased expression of VEGF-A and Interleukin-8 (IL-8). This leads to increase in angiogenesis (one of the key mechanisms that drives cancer progression by forming new blood vessels) and thereby accelerating the growth rate of these cells (Barzegar Behrooz et al., 2019). Though CD133 has been very useful in isolating CSCs, it has become evident in recent years that they cannot be used as a marker for isolating CSCs in different patients as CSC phenotypes vary from patient to patient.

Cancer progression is regulated in multiple ways. A high growth rate of cells, as mentioned above, leads to a decrease in the availability of oxygen in cells leading to hypoxia. Hypoxia increases the expression of hypoxia-inducible factor $1-\alpha$ (HIF- 1α) in cancerous cells by stimulating glycolysis. Metabolism of the cell is elevated by increasing the glucose uptake and fermenting the glucose into lactate (Warburg effect), which has been identified as a characteristic of cancer cells (Liberty and Locasale, 2016).

There have been two different hypotheses to account for the heterogeneity centred around the "stemness" of cells. The classical approach defined by the 'stochastic model' hypothesises that all cells in the tumour possess the same tumorigenicity, and any of them can potentially act as tumour initiating cells. This theory predicts that these cells might undergo epigenetic changes resulting from their microenvironment and progresses by naturally selecting the best candidate for proliferation (Dalerba et al., 2007). Another predicted possibility is that of a 'hierarchical model', where only a specific subset of cells within the tumour possesses the ability to self-renew and proliferate without limits into different cell types to form a heterogeneous tumour mass. A considerable amount of experimental data has backed the latter concept. This hypothesis implied the existence of a particular set of cells similar to normal adult stem cells, which were later called cancer stem-like cells or CSCs, that on transplanting can give rise to a new bulk of tumours with terminally differentiated cells. CSCs

are classified into a superior class which precedes the terminally differentiated cells, thus leading to a hierarchy within the tumour (Visvader and Lindeman, 2008). However, recent studies in this fastevolving field point towards different CSC pools in the same tumour mass, variability of CSC phenotype within and across tumours, and the potential of non-CSCs to morph into CSCs (Visvader and Lindeman, 2012). Altogether, this reveals the highly dynamic nature of CSCs in GBM. It is also possible that CSCs do not function as suggested in either of the hypothesised models but rather suit both hypotheses. CSCs were initially pursued as a possible therapeutic target for GBM, but as they vary significantly within a tumour, CSCs cannot be used as a primary target to treat GBM. In the event of using CSCs as a target for therapy, a personalised approach should be devised to specifically target different CSC pools.



Figure 2: Different models of cancer progression (Visvader and Lindeman, 2012). Reprinted with permission from Cell Stem Cell.

- A. The stochastic hypothesis suggests that all cells in the tumour mass have the same tumorigenic potential.
- B. The hierarchic hypothesis suggests that cancer stem cells possess a unique ability to self-renew and terminally differentiate.



Figure 3: Different possible ways in which Cancer Stem Cells contribute to tumour heterogeneity (Visvader and Lindeman, 2012). Reprinted with permission from Cell Stem Cell.

- A) Only one set of CSC present in the tumour with the ability to generate a tumour mass.
- B) Multiple subpopulations of CSC's present within a tumour, where both possess the ability to regenerate.
- C) Dormant for a long time (yellow with red border) CSC can be activated leading to recurrence long after therapy.
- D) Already existing CSC acquires epigenetic mutation resulting in a more aggressive variant with the ability to continue tumour progression.
- E) Unstable CSC phenotype, results in reversing of CSC cell surface markers.

Cell motility in cancerous and non-cancerous cells

Cell motility is a major event which enables tissue development, homeostasis, immune response as well as in cancer progression and metastasis (Friedl and Bröcker, 2000). Movement of cells can be in 2-dimension (2-D) or 3-dimension (3-D). Motion of cells towards a ligand coated surface without crossing any matrix barriers is considered as 2-D or haptokinetic motion of cells while movement of cells across a matrix (for instance, extra cellular matrix (ECM)) is considered 3-D motion of cells (Friedl and Bröcker, 2000). The 2-D cell movement occurs as a result of a series of adhesion and deadhesion processes. The three major events in this process are (1) protrusion of the leading edge and receptor mediated adhesion to surface, (2) contraction of the cell body, (3) detachment of the trailing edge. These sequential events were studied in non-neoplastic cells such as fibroblasts, keratinocytes and myoblasts (Abercrombie et al., 1977; Loffenburger and Horwitz, 1996). However, extended studies on cancerous cells showed that they use similar methods to migrate to different parts of our body and to invade surrounding tissues (Friedl and Wolf, 2003).

Cell migration or invasion involves not only a number of biochemical signalling but also numerous events of biomechanical remodelling and phenotypic changes. The ECM acts as a substrate for cellular adhesion as well as a barrier for the advancing cell body (Friedl and Wolf, 2003). As the first step in migrating, a moving cell becomes polarised and elongated leading to formation of an elongated protrusion called lamellipoda/filipoda/pseudopod or invadopod (Adams, 2001). These extensions grow and touch ECM initiating binding with the help of trans membrane adhesion molecules (mostly belonging to integrin family). Integrins couple with actin cytoskeleton to form locally enriched focal adhesion complexes which helps the cell to glide forward. 3-D movement of the cells across ECM follows similar stages with an addition of proteolytic remodelling of ECM after the lamellipoda attachment to the ECM (Ohuchi et al., 1997). Although cellular protrusions that help in the process of migration can differ in morphology, they are all composed of actin and different sets of signalling proteins (Friedl and Wolf, 2003).

The initial polarisation and elongation of cells is facilitated by polymerisation of actin and their arrangment into actin filaments (Loffenburger and Horwitz, 1996). As these protrusions grow and touch the ECM, transmembrane receptors, particularly those belonging to integrin family are activated and binding to ECM is initiated (Hynes, 2002). Integrins then couple with actin cytoskeleton with the help of adapter proteins to form a dense cluster called focal complex. These focal complexes

then grow and stabilise themselves to form a focal contact (Burridge and Chrzanowska-Wodnicka, 1996). Integrins that take part in the focal contact formation can vary depending on the cell type and ECM substrate. Different non-integrin receptors like CD-44, CD-26, surface proteoglycans and other immunoglobulin superfamily members also take part in signalling cell motility (Maaser et al., 1999). The onset of adhesion receptors towards the ECM binding site activates surface proteases to the site of ECM binding. This leads to degradation of ECM components which are close to the focal complex (focal proteolysis). As ECM degradation progress, the moving cell propels towards the ECM and gains required space for it to migrate through the matrix structure (Friedl et al., 1997).

Current treatment strategies and challenges

Numerous studies have been done for understanding the pathogenesis of malignant gliomas. These studies have helped in developing effective strategies for the intervention of disease progression. However, the complete mechanism of pathogenesis is still not completely understood. Therefore, currently available treatment methods are not always completely successful in curing GBM.

Current treatment strategies for GBM include surgical resection, chemotherapy, radiotherapy, and treatment with temozolomide (TMZ). Treating GBM also involves clinical management of symptoms like cerebral oedema, seizures, infections, cognitive dysfunction, venous thromboembolism. Traditionally, after successful resection of the tumour, patients undergo radiation therapy five times a week for five to six weeks, along with oral administration of temozolomide daily. Recurrence can be observed as soon as 6.9 months after initial diagnosis. Tumour recurrence is usually treated with re-irradiation if eligible. Due to ethical constraints, re-operating is not an option for many patients and therefore clinical trial participation remains the most viable option (Alifieris and Trafaris, 2015; Wen and Kesari, 2008). While surgical resection removes most of the tumour mass, a potent subset of tumour cells would have already moved across the visible tumour boundary and would lead to malignancy (Ghosh et al., 2018). Radiation therapy has shown considerable improvement in survival rates; however, radiation-induced DNA damage, necrosis, neuronal damage, and insensitivity (radioresistance) of some GBM types are some of the limitations of this mode of treatment. Extreme proliferation of cells within the tumour leads to lesser availability of oxygen within the tumour as compared to the surrounding cortex, leading to hypoxia. Hypoxia is often attributed for radioresistance of tumours (Torrisi et al., 2020). Treatment with TMZ has been the most successful in conjunction with surgery and radiation (Stupp et al., 2005).

Temozolomide is an oral alkylating agent that has 96-100% bioavailability. It is successful in diffusing through the blood-brain barrier into the central nervous system. Starting dosage of TMZ is from 75mg/m² daily for six weeks, along with regional radiotherapy at the site of operation. This is

followed by a concomitant dose of 150mg/m² orally for five days and bumped up to 200mg/m² if well-tolerated in 28-day cycles (Chinot et al., 2001; Villano et al., 2009). Currently, this is the preferred treatment mode considering the comparable survival benefits that it provides (median overall survival (OS) 14.6 months, 2-year survival 26.5%) (Chen et al., 2013). However, high doses of TMZ are required for the desired effect, which often leads to cytotoxicity in non-cancerous cells. Furthermore, prolonged usage of TMZ can make the tumour resistant to the drug and leaves the patient with no more options.

Other drugs currently available for treating GBM include chloroethylating agents such as carmustine and lomustine. Carmustine coated wafers are implanted in the surgical cavity which are designed to release carmustine slowly over a period of 2-3 weeks. Though this has shown significant improvement in patient survival rates, terrible side effects like seizures, difficulty in wound healing, intra cranial infection have been observed in many patients (Iacob and Dinca, 2009). For patients that do not respond to TMZ (often offered as a first line of therapy), a second line of cytotoxic agents like carboplatin, etoposide, oxaliplatin, irinotecan is conventionally used. There are other agents which include monoclonal antibodies that target angiogenic growth factors and inhibitors that target specific kinases, which are more often offered as an experimental approach in chemotherapy (Iacob and Dinca, 2009). Even though moderately successful options of treatments are available for treating GBM and there are several ongoing research for new intervention strategies, most of them are focused on cell death. Out of the vast number of papers published upto 2019, only 11% focused on limiting the motility of cells (Yool and Ramesh, 2020).

Recurrence or relapse of the tumour is another significant threat in treating GBM. Even after surgical resection followed by chemo and radiotherapy, there have been reports of recurrence of tumour mass (Ghosh et al., 2018). The brain being a terminally differentiated organ, the rate of regeneration is very slow or nearly zero. As a result, highly invasive techniques cannot be used in treating GBM. This could later lead to recurrence if GBM cells invade into surrounding regions of the brain. It is also possible that GBM cells invade different functional areas of the brain, making it difficult for surgeons to operate as there is a risk losing the patient's cognitive processes (Sanai and Berger, 2008). Tumour heterogeneity is yet another problem when it comes to treating malignant gliomas. Different cells in the same tumour with different genotypic and phenotypic expression patterns might react differently to therapy, leading to failure of treatment and recurrence of tumour (Persano et al., 2013). The diffuse nature of the tumour is a significant feature of GBM. Diffuse gliomas are characterised by extensive infiltration of tumour cells into the dense network of neurons or neuronal processes known as neuropil (Claes et al., 2007). Cancer stem cells, as discussed in the previous section, poses an obvious challenge in treating glioblastoma. Furthermore, CSCs are known to have a dormant period or a

period of inactivity during which they behave like other cancer cells. They can be triggered by different micro-environmental factors or chemotherapy to revert into CSCs (Moore and Lyle, 2010). Even though many studies are many ongoing studies for finding an effective way to treat glioblastoma, a significant gap in the knowledge exists around limiting cell motility while the primary mass is being treated.

Pharmacological agents that prevent cancer cell migration especially using natural extracts is a major area that has not been explored to their full potential. Nevertheless, ample amounts of anticancer agents are used in the clinic, either natural or derived from a natural source. Major chemotherapy drugs currently in use like vincristine, irinotecan, etoposide, paclitaxel are natural compounds derived from plants. Moreover, there are other classes of compounds like taxanes, alkaloids, were identified as potential anticancer agents (Nobili et al., 2009). Natural products have opened up a promising arena of prospective adjuvants when applied with TMZ have shown potential in treating cancer. Ginsenoside from the herbal plant ginseng which shows anti-tumour and anti-angiogenic effect (Sun et al., 2016). The bioactive in green tea (epigallocatechin gallate) which inhibits viability and migration (Zhang et al., 2015) are some of the promising compounds among many others.

Traditional Chinese Medicine (TCM) is a practice that has been around for thousands of years and is still followed not only in China but also in many parts around the world. Camptothecins (CPT) are one of the major contributions from TCM with regards to treating cancer. CPT is a natural alkaloid extracted from the bark of Camptotheca acuminata otherwise known as Chinese happy tree (Wall et al., 1966). Though CPT showed promising results early on, severe bladder toxicity associated with it blighted the scope. However, chemical structure manipulation of CPT gave rise to two potent analogues topotecan and irinotecan, they are specific inhibitors of topoisomerase I enzyme which helps in DNA unwinding before replication and transcription (Mann, 2002; Martino et al., 2017). Both the analogues were cleared for clinical use and irinotecan is one of the second -tier drugs used in treating GBM (Iacob and Dinca, 2009). A recent study by Nourmohammadi et al., 2019, shows that a Chinese traditional medicinal compound, Compound Kushen Injection (CKI), has been very effective in limiting invasion, proliferation and gene expression in a range of different types of cancer cell lines. This compound has been chemically refined, fractionated and dose-dependent studies have been carried out. A rather exciting outcome of this study was that this activity was not a result of a single component. Instead, it was the combination of different identified fractions which was responsible for the effect. Furthermore, it was also found that the effective combination was different for different cancer types. Therefore, this suggests that combinatorial therapy using such natural compounds alongside current medication could prove much more effective in treating glioblastoma.

Cancer is a complex disease. There are multiple pathways through which the disease progress. For the last few decades, treatment of cancer mainly focused on limiting the proliferation of cancerous cells. However, new strategies (such as CAR T-cell therapy) followed as studies expanded and painted a more comprehensive picture of the disease progression. Most of the treatment methods available today focus on arresting cell cycle activities or selectively targeting specific receptor complexes to stop cellular proliferation. However, these strategies fail to address one of the significant properties of cancer cells, invasiveness. Invasiveness is mainly the reason GBM recurs, and recurrence is the primary reason for treatment failure. Therefore, treating cancer should follow a synergistic approach rather than targeting a single molecular target. Targeting a single molecular target and using another agent to limit the invasiveness of the cancerous cells could stop the proliferation as well as prevent cancer cells from invading the surrounding healthy tissues leading to possibly lower chances of recurrence. As seen in recent years, concomitant or adjuvant therapy with a different drug and chemotherapy is more effective compared to treatment with only chemotherapy. So, treating GBM with an adjuvant that limits invasiveness together with chemotherapy could help tackle recurrence.

Rationale and techniques followed in the study

As described in the previous sections, cancer is a complex and dynamic disease. Therefore, tackling such a disease would require a multipronged approach. This study utilises natural compounds from NatureBank, a compound library by Griffith Institute of Drug Discovery (GRIDD). Compounds in this library have been extracted from native Australian plants, animals, fungi and marine invertebrates. The extracts provided by NatureBank which are used in this study are purified fractions from plants, animals, fungi or marine invertebrates.

The study by Nourmohammadi et al. on CKI revealed interesting findings with regards to limiting GBM invasion and migration. CKI is a potent mixture prepared from *Sophora flavescens* (Kushen) and *Heterosmilax chinensis*. At the start of the project, it was proposed by the supervisors to use CKI to further the work done by Nourmohammadi et al. by focusing only on the action of CKI on GBM cell line (U-251 MG). However, due to Covid-19 and political climate associated with it, sourcing CKI from China was not possible. Sourcing the roots of *Sophora flavescens* was still a viable option and therefore it was consensually decided to study the effect of crude Kushen extracts on GBM invasion and migration.

The transwell migration assay which was used in this study utilises the ability of a cell to migrate across a chemotactic gradient through a physical barrier (Justus et al., 2014). Coating the transwell membrane with a matrix (Matrigel® in this case) mimics extracellular matrix and can help in

investigating cell invasion. Cells are added to the Matrigel coated membrane along with growth media containing lower serum concentration. These membrane inserts containing cells are then placed into bottom wells of the transwell plate containing growth media with a higher serum concentration. This creates a chemotactic gradient allowing cells to migrate towards the bottom chamber. Cells that successfully invade through the added matrix are trapped within the membrane and the matrix coating. Those cells that do not invade are removed from the top and the membrane is fixed stained and washed to visualise the cells that successfully invaded.





Hypotheses and aims of the study

This study aims to investigate the effect of natural compounds in inhibiting the invasion of glioblastoma cells. This study hypothesises that natural compounds like those from Griffith University's Nature Bank and Chinese traditional medicinal herb Kushen (Sophora flavescens) effectively inhibit the invasion of glioblastoma cells across the extracellular matrix. NatureBank compounds include extracts from various Australian plants, fungi and marine invertebrates. The aims of the study are:

(1) To screen compounds from natural compound library, NatureBank to identify their anti-cancerous effect on glioblastoma cells using U-251MG cell lines.

(2) To test cytotoxicity and identify the minimum inhibitory concentration of the identified compounds.

(3) To investigate the inhibitory effect of crude Kushen extract on the invasion of U251-MG cell lines.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Cell line used

There are multiple genotypic and phenotypic cell models available to study GBM. This study utilised U251-MG cell lines and evaluated the effect of different natural compounds in limiting the invasiveness of U251-MG cells. U251-MG cells are slowly proliferating, phenotypically distinct (as compared to other model cell lines such as U-87) commercial cell lines possessing intrinsic resistance to TMZ. They belong to the mesenchymal molecular subtype (Motaln et al., 2015).

The U251-MG cell line purchased from CellBank Australia was kindly provided by Prof. Andrea Yool from the University of Adelaide. Cells used in transwell invasion assays, cytotoxicity assays and dose response assays belonged to passages 12 to 14. Cells were cultured in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (DMEM) with 10% foetal bovine serum (FBS) and were maintained at 37°C with 5% CO₂.

NatureBank Compounds

A small subset of 500 compounds (from a library of 20000 natural extracts) were obtained from Griffith Institute of Drug Discovery's NatureBank compound library with an MTA in place with Flinders University. Out of these 500 compounds, 88 of them were screened as a part of this project. 1μ L of each compound at 5mM concentration was received from NatureBank for initial screening. They were resuspended in DMSO and were used at a final concentration of 0.9 or 1μ M in transwell invasion assays (refer appendix for detailed dilution volumes).

Kushen roots harvesting and processing

Kushen roots were sourced from the Genomics Centre, University of Adelaide, Waite Campus (kindly provided by A.Prof. Kenneth Chalmers). The roots provided were of plants that traditionally grows in 9 different geographical locations in China (plants were grown in Genomic Centre, Waite campus, Adelaide University) (Schultz et al., 2021). Collected Kushen roots were washed multiple times to remove any soil, or solid impurities adhered on to them. Washed roots were pat dried with a tissue and were packed in a paper bag. These paper bags were then left in a 37°C drying incubator for 3 months. Though there were 9 different plant lines available only two lines, Line 2 from Inner Mongolia and Line 4 from Hebei province were used for experiments as the other lines did not have enough plant material to process.

Once the roots were thoroughly dried, they were cut into small pieces and were ground into a fine powder using a spice grinder. This fine powder was then transferred into pre-weighed flasks. Each of

the flasks were weighed for a second time to record their weights while containing the powdered root material. Dry weights of the roots were calculated using the pre-weighed and post-weighed values. Root extraction was carried out using two solvents, water, and ethanol. Once the dry weights of samples were calculated, solvent volume corresponding to ten times of the dry weight was added to respective flasks. These flasks where then heated at 60°C for 80 minutes and were stirred occasionally. After 80 minutes of heating, they were left to cool down and then were aliquoted out into two different 50ml falcon tubes. Falcon tubes were then centrifuged at 4500 rpm for ten minutes and the supernatant was then aliquoted out into 2ml pre-weighed Eppendorf tubes. These Eppendorf tubes were left for two days on a heating block at 70°C with the lids open to let the solvent evaporate completely. Once the solvent was completely evaporated from the tubes, they were weighed again to calculate the actual weight of the residue left in them. The ethanol extracted samples were resuspended in DMSO and the water extracted samples were resuspended in water to obtain 1.5, 2, 3.12, 6.25, 12.5, 25 and 50 µg of dried sample/ml of solvent (DMSO or water).

Maintaining U251-MG cells in culture media

All cell culture techniques were carried out in a laminar hood under aseptic conditions. All the equipment used for cell culture inside the laminar hood was sterilised with 80% alcohol. Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (DMEM) with 10% FBS was used to culture U251-MG cells in T75 flasks. They were maintained at 37°C with 5% CO₂. Cells were maintained as adherent monolayers and their confluency was monitored twice a week using Leica microsystems DMi1 microscope. Once the cells reach a confluency of 80-90% they were passaged or used for experiments.

Passaging or subculturing involved aspirating the culture medium and washing the cells with 1x Phosphate Buffer Saline (PBS). PBS was apirated after washing. The cells were then trypsinised with 1x Trysin/EDTA solution (10% of culture volume) for 2-3 minutes. Following typsinisation, the cell solution was neutralised with 10% FBS, DMEM media. Cells were then gently pipetted two to three times to ensure complete resuspension. After resuspending the cells, a volume that would result in at least 30% confluency in the new flask was calculated and pipetted out (calculations provided in appendix). This volume was added to a fresh T175 culture flask. The flasks were then topped up to 30 ml, with fresh culture media.

Reanimation and cryopreservation of U251-MG cells

Two vials of cryogenic preserved cells were obtained from University of Adelaide at the start of the experiments. In order to reanimate these cells, tubes from the obtained stock were removed from the freezer and were allowed to thaw on wet ice until all the contents became liquid. Thawed contents were then transferred to a 15ml centrifuge tube, and approximately 4ml of DMEM (10% FBS) was

added to it. Tubes are then centrifuged at 120g for 5 minutes at room temperature. Next, the resulting supernatant was carefully removed, and the cells were resuspended in 5ml of DMEM (10% FBS). Finally, 5ml of the resulting cell solution was transferred into a fresh flask (T175) and was topped up with appropriate amounts of DMEM (10% FBS).

Simultaneously, cryogenic stocks of cells were prepared using cells grown to 90- 95% confluency for further use and were maintained at appropriate temperatures (-80°C for continuing culture and in liquid nitrogen for long term storage). The spent media from the flask was removed, and the cells were washed with 1x PBS. After aspirating PBS, cells were trypsinised with 1x trypsin/EDTA for 2-3 minutes, following which they were neutralised with DMEM (10%FBS). 10µl of this solution was used to perform a cell count on a haemocytometer. A resuspension volume is calculated based on the cell count to obtain approximately 4×10^4 cells per ml. The rest of the cell suspension was centrifuged at 4500 rpm for 5 minutes at room temperature. The supernatant was aspirated, and the cells were resuspended in the calculated resuspension volume of complete DMEM (calculation provided in the appendix). 500µl of this cell suspension was transferred into a cryovial to which 500µl of freezing mix was added (refer to appendix for components). These vials were stored at -80°C overnight and were later moved to liquid nitrogen storage tanks (-196°C).

Transwell invasion assay

24-welled transwell inserts from Corning[®] (6.5mm, 8µm pore size) were used to perform transwell invasion assay. Top layer of the removable inserts was coated with Matrigel (Sigma-Aldrich) (1 in 40 dilution) which mimics the ECM and acts as a physical barrier for the cells. Inserts coated with Matrigel were left overnight to dry and were rehydrated with 50µl of serum free media one hour prior to the experiment. Cells were grown to 40% confluency with 10% FBS, DMEM media and were then starved with 2% FBS media 24 hours prior to the treatment with NatureBank compounds. Cells were then detached and resuspended in serum free media to obtain approximately 60000 cells in 10ml (refer appendix for calculations). 70µl of the cell suspension made with respective compounds (NatureBank or Kushen extracts) or vehicle control were added to the top inserts (120µl in total with rehydration volume). Bottom wells of the plate were filled with 600µl of growth media with 10% FBS creating a chemotactic gradient along with respective compounds or vehicle control to create a. Cells were then incubated for 4.5 hours at 37°C and 5% CO₂. After the incubation period, noninvasive cells were removed from the top using a cotton swab and the inserts were fixed using 70% ethanol for 7 minutes. Fixed inserts were then stained using 0.2% w/v crystal violet solution (Justus et al., 2014) for 12 minutes. Five images of each insert were taken under 10x magnification covering the entire surface area of the insert with minimal overlap between each image. The average cell numbers were then calculated by counting the invaded cells in each of the five 5 images. The average values were normalised to that from the vehicle controls and was expressed as percentage invasion.

$$\%Invasion = \frac{Average \ cell \ count \ for \ a \ treatment}{Average \ cell \ count \ of \ control} \times 100$$

For the initial screening of NatureBank compounds, invasion assays were performed as described above. $1.2\mu L$ (0.9mM) of each compound or vehicle control were added to both top and bottom mixes resulting in a concentration of $1\mu M$ on top inserts and $0.9\mu M$ in bottom wells. DMSO was used as a vehicle control for screening.

Resuspended Kushen extracts at $2\mu g$ dried root extract/ml of solvent were used to perform invasion assay as described. $1\mu L$ (2mg/ml) of each extract was added to the top mix resulting in $2\mu g$ /ml final concentration. $1.2\mu L$ (2mg/ml) of each of the extracts were added to the bottom mixes to result in $2\mu g$ /ml final concentration. The same process was repeated for a final concentration of $50\mu g$ of dried root extract/ml of solvent to study the inhibitory effect on cell invasion. For ethanol extracted samples resuspended in DMSO, DMSO was used as vehicle control. Water extracted samples resuspended in water used water as vehicle control.

Invasion assays were carried out using different doses of identified NatureBank compounds from the preliminary screening, to determine an effective inhibitory concentration. Different concentrations, specifically 1 μ M, 0.5 μ M, 0.3 μ M, 0.1 μ M and 0.03 μ M were used to evaluate the response and generate a dose response curve. Stocks of different concentrations were prepared (resuspension volumes provided in appendix). 1 μ L and 1.2 μ L of each compound were added to top and bottom mixes respectively to reach different final concentrations (1 μ M, 0.5 μ M, 0.1 μ M and 0.03 μ M). DMSO was used as vehicle control for dose response experiments.

Cytotoxicity assay with NatureBank compounds

Cytotoxicity was assessed by using the Alamar Blue assay (O'Brien et al., 2000). First, cells were detached using trypsin/EDTA solution and were resuspended in DMEM with 10% FBS. Following this, the cells were seeded on a 96-welled plate with approximately 700-800 cells/well. These plates were then incubated at 37°C with 5% CO₂ for 48 hours. After 48 hours, media was removed from all the wells, replaced with 100ul of the respective treatments, and incubated at the same conditions for 4.5 hours. Finally, treatments were replaced with 100ul of Alamar Blue solution (1:10 with warm DMEM (10% FBS)) after 4.5 hours of incubation. To assess cell viability, fluorescence readings were taken (FLUOstar Omega, BMG Labtech) every 45 minutes until 90 minutes. Cells with DMSO were treated as vehicle control, and growth media with no cells were considered negative control, used for

background colour correction. The fluorescence values were normalised with reference to control and were expressed as percentage of cell viability based on signal intensity.

Treatments included 4 different concentrations of different NatureBank compounds which were 1 μ M, 0.3 μ M, 0.1 μ M and 0.03 μ M. The same procedure was repeated for identifying cytotoxicity of Kushen extracts by using different concentrations of Kushen extracts. The concentrations that were trialled included 50 μ g/ml, 25 μ g/ml, 12.5 μ g/ml, 6.25 μ g/ml, 3.15 μ g/ml, 2 μ g/ml and 1.5 μ g/ml.

Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was carried out using software Graphpad Prism version 9.2.0. All the experiments carried out consisted of at least three independent biological replicates (n=3) except for initial screening of NatureBank compounds using transwell invasion assay (n=2). All the results are expressed as mean and error bars represent standard deviation. One-way ANOVA was carried out to determine significance and p<0.005 was considered to be significant. Specific p-values and exact replicate numbers are provided in figure legends.

RESULTS

Screening NatureBank compounds for inhibition of invasiveness using transwell invasion assay

77 compounds from a 96-well plate received from NatureBank were screened to find compounds that inhibited invasion. While some of the compounds amplified the invasiveness of U251 cells, some of them successfully inhibited invasion. Compounds which amplified the invasiveness were not studied further as they did not limit invasion by definition. Compounds with invasion percentages less than 60% in both cell lines (U251 and U87) were selected and further studied to identify any cytotoxicity associated with them. A dose response was also carried out to determine the half maximal inhibitory concentration of specific compounds which are described in detail in following subsections. The invasion percentages varied from as low as 6.5% to as high as 476% (Figure 5).

	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12
Α	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
B	SN598	SN608	SN612	SN617	SN621	SN622	SN630	SN637	SN638	SN310	SN311	DMSO
С	SN312	SN313	SN316	SN317	SN318	SN322	SN323	SN324	SN325	SN326	SN327	DMSO
D	SN328	SN329	SN330	SN331	SN332	SN333	SN334	SN337	SN338	SN339	SN340	DMSO
Е	SN341	SN342	SN343	SN344	SN345	SN346	SN347	SN348	SN349	SN367	SN392	DMSO
F	SN396	SN399	SN405	SN408	SN409	SN548	SN550	SN594	SN599	SN607	SN314	DMSO
G	SN315	SN319	SN321	SN376	SN389	SN398	SN119	SN120	SN122	SN123	SN093	DMSO
Η	SN094	SN095	SN096	SN097	SN098	SN100	SN101	SN102	SN103	SN104	SN106	DMSO

Table 1: Plate layout for the screened plate of compounds received from NatureBank Screening of the above-mentioned compounds (Table 1) identified three compounds which inhibited invasion in U251-MG cell lines, which were SN096- 6.5%, SN104- 31%, and SN594- 8.5% (values indicate percentage of cells that invaded through the membrane- invasion percentages) (Figure 5). Another study by an honour's student, in which the same compounds were screened using U-87 (another model cell line for GBM (neural subtype)) cell line led to identification of compound SN098 which showed 53% invasion in U251-MG cell lines and 42% inU87-MG. This study was conducted in collaboration with a research group from the University of Adelaide. Another plate of compounds received from NatureBank were screened at the University of Adelaide on U87MG and U251MG cell lines. This screening resulted in identifying 16 compounds which showed inhibition in both the cell lines (Figure 6).







В

F







Figure 5: Cell counts expressed as invasion percentage with respect to DMSO controls after treating with different NatureBank compounds on U251-MG cell line. A-G invasion percentages of each NatureBank compound in along with DMSO controls. Error bars represent standard deviation, n=2.



Figure 6: A comparison of the identified compounds between U251MG and U87MG. Invasion percentages of 20 NautreBank compounds identified from the initial screening. Invasion percentages for the identified compounds represented in black for U87MG cell line (provided by collaborators) and in red for U251MG cell line (data for SN098, SN096, SN104 and SN594 generated in this project, rest of the data provided by collaborators). Error bars represent standard deviation.



Figure 7: U251-MG cells fixed with 70% ethanol and stained with 0.2% crystal violet under microscope (10x magnification)

- A) DMSO control
- B) Transwell filter treated with SN319, one of the compounds that potentiated invasiveness
- C) Transwell filter treated with SN096, one of the compounds that inhibited invasion.

Testing cytotoxicity of the identified NatureBank compounds on U251-MG cell line

All the 20 compounds identified from the initial screening were tested for cytotoxicity using Alamar Blue reagent. Different concentrations of each compound, 1μ M, 0.3 μ M, 0.1 μ M,0.03 μ M, were tested for cytotoxicity. None of the identified compounds were cytotoxic in any of the tested concentrations.





















Figure 9: Cell viability assessed using Alamar Blue assay to identify any cytotoxic effect of the identified compounds. Different concentrations were tested (0.03, 0.1, 0.3, 1.0µM) for compounds SN510 (A), SN631 (B), SN620 (C), SN545 (D), SN564 (E), SN618 (F), SN104 (G), SN567 (H). n=8 for DMSO controls, n=4 for all treatments, ns= no significance. Error bars represent standard deviation.





Further, these results were presented to NatureBank by the research team revealing the chemical names and structures of the identified compounds. Table 2 provides chemical names corresponding to the SN codes for 20 identified compounds.

SN code	Trivial Name (if available)				
SN545	Sauristolactam / Saurolactam				
SN631	Xanthurenic acid				
SN620	Enterocarpam II				
SN618	3-Methylbut-3-enyl-O-a-L-rhamno-pyranosyl-(1-6)-O-b-D- glucopyranoside				
SN567	Xanthurenic acid				
SN565	RAD natural product				
SN564	RAD natural product				
SN563	RAD natural product				
SN551	Caelestine				
SN546	Caldensine				
SN121	Gallic acid				
SN388	Methyl ether of pestalactam A				
SN387	Pestalactam A				
SN362	Natural product				
SN096	Davis compound (under MTA)				
SN098	Davis compound (under MTA)				
SN594	Ellipticine				
SN104	Polyandrocarpamine synthetic derivative				

 Table 2: SN codes and corresponding trivial names of the compounds as identified by NatureBank. RAD refers to Rohan Davis library

Dose response and half maximal inhibitory concentrations of four of the identified compounds From the 20 identified compounds four of them (SN618, SN631, SN565 and SN362) were selected for dose response experiments. Transwell assays were performed with different concentrations (1 μ M, 0.5 μ M, 0.3 μ M, 0.1 μ M and 0.03 μ M) of the four different compounds. Only four compounds were included in this experiment in the interest of availability of time and the compounds themselves. Data from both cell lines U251-MG and U87-MG were considered while selecting the four compounds for further analysis. Log of concentration was plotted against invasion% to obtain a semilog plot which depicts the dose dependent response on invasion. From the dose response curve half maximal inhibitory concentrations (IC₅₀) for respective compounds were identified. Different IC₅₀ identified were, 0.24 μ M for SN618, 0.41 μ M for SN362, 0.25 μ M for SN631 and 0.43 μ M for SN565 (Figure 11).



Figure 11:Dose response curves for compounds SN618, SN362, SN631, SN565. A) SN618- IC₅₀ 0.24 μ M, B) SN362- IC₅₀ 0.41 μ M, C) SN631- IC₅₀ 0.25 μ M, D) SN565- IC₅₀ 0.43 μ M. n=4 for all treatments. Error bars represent standard deviation.

Evaluating cytotoxicity of prepared Kushen root extracts on U251-MG cell line

Kushen root extracts were prepared with ethanol and water and were resuspended in DMSO and water respectively for testing cytotoxicity using Alamar Blue. Different concentrations $50\mu g/ml$, $25\mu g/ml$, $12.5\mu g/ml$, $6.25\mu g/ml$, $3.12\mu g/ml$, $2\mu g/ml$, $1.5\mu g/ml$ were tested to identify any cytotoxic effect they might have. After treatment, cells were 100% viable, implying no cytotoxicity at any of the tested concentrations (Figure 12).





Testing the prepared extracts for any inhibitory action on invasion of U251-MG cell line using transwell invasion assay

Transwell invasion assay was performed with a $2 \mu g/ml$ extracts to detect any inhibitory effect (Figure 13). However, no significant inhibition of invasion was observed at this concentration with either ethanol extracted, or water extracted samples. Controls were treated with DMSO along with ethanol extracted samples resuspended in DMSO. Controls were treated with water along with water extracted samples resuspended in water.



Figure 13: Kushen root extracts at 2µg/ml for transwell assays to identify any inhibitory action on invasion of U251-MG cells. Ethanol extracted samples resuspended in DMSO of Line 2 and Line 4 Kushen roots depicted in grey along with control (DMSO), water extracted samples resuspended in water of Line 2 and Line 4 Kushen roots depicted in orange along with control (water). n=4 for all treatments, ns= no significance. Error bars represent standard deviation.

Further, $50 \mu g/ml$ concentration of the extracts were used in transwell invasion assays for identifying any inhibitory effect on invasion (Figure 14). Roots of Line 4 Kushen plant extracted with ethanol and resuspended in DMSO allowed invasion of 57.5% (p= 0.006) while inhibiting 42.5% of cells similar extracts from Line 2 Kushen did not inhibit invasion. For Kushen roots extracted with water and resuspended in water, extracts of Line 2 Kushen allowed invasion of 73.81% (p=0.02) while inhibiting 26.19% of cells. Similar extracts from Line 4 Kushen allowed invasion of 81.14% and inhibited only 18.86% of cells.



Figure 14:: Kushen root extracts at 50µg/ml for transwell assays to identify any inhibitory action on invasion of U251-MG cells. Ethanol extracted samples resuspended in DMSO of Line 2 and Line 4 Kushen roots depicted in grey along with control (DMSO), water extracted samples resuspended in water of Line 2 and Line 4 Kushen roots depicted in orange along with control (water). n=4 for all treatments. Error bars represent standard deviation. **p=0.006, *p=0.02

DISCUSSION

Summary of findings

Glioblastoma, like other cancers, is a complex disease regulated and driven by multiple factors such as invasiveness of the cancer cells, adaptive metabolism, and molecular signalling (Garcia et al., 2021). Tumour recurrence, diffuse nature of tumours, presence of cancer stem cells (CSCs), tumour heterogeneity, resistance to chemo and radiotherapy are some of the major challenges in treating GBM. These challenges collectively call for new treatment strategies. This study aimed to explore some of the natural extract fractions provided by NatureBank and extracts prepared from the roots of Traditional Chinese Medicinal herb Kushen (*Sophora flavescens*), for their inhibitory action on GBM invasiveness. Screening of compounds from NatureBank led to identification of 20 compounds that inhibited GBM invasion in U251 cells (Figure 6), without being cytotoxic to the cells (Figures 8, 9, and 10). Further investigation of four of the identified compounds showed IC₅₀ values less than 0.5µM (SN618- 0.24µM, SN362- 0.41µM, SN631- 0.25µM and SN565- 0.43µM) (Figure 11). Only four of the identified compounds themselves. Kushen root extracts inhibited GBM invasion at a concentration of 50µg/ml (Figure 14). This proves the hypothesis that natural compounds can effectively inhibit glioblastoma invasion.

NatureBank compounds decoded: discussion on the identified compounds based on available literature

While 14 of these compounds have already been identified and classified, 6 of them are still under investigation (Table 2). Compounds SN545, SN631, SN620, SN618, SN567, SN551, SN546, SN121, SN388, SN387, SN594 and SN104 were identified as saurolactam (SN545); xanthurenic acid (SN631 and SN567), enterocarpam II (SN620), beta- D-glucopyranoside (SN618), caelestine (SN551), caldensine (SN546), gallic acid (SN121), methyl ether of pestalactam A (SN388), pestalactam A (SN387), elliptisine (SN594) and polyandrocarpamine derivative (SN104). Other compoundsSN563, SN564, SN565, SN362, SN096, SN098 and SN104 have not been chemically identified.

Compound SN545 was identified as Sauristolactam/ saurolactam, an aristolactam (Table 2). Aristolactams are alkaloids that have gained popularity for their array of biological properties including anti-inflammatory and neuroprotective (Choi et al., 2009; Sauristolactam, 2021). A study by Li et al. in 2015 showed that saurolactam inhibits proliferation, migration, and invasion of human osteosarcoma cells. This study found that saurolactam inhibited proliferation and decreased colony formation in MG-63 and HOS (human osteosarcoma cell lines) cell lines. Administering saurolactam at 25mg/kg of body weight over a 21-day period was found to dramatically reduce the growth of MG-

63 xenografts in nude mice. Another study in 2011 by Oh et al. revealed the anti-tumor activity of a sauristolactam derivative on human breast cancer cell line MDA-MB-231, due to its inhibitory action on EGFR (Oh et al., 2011). EGFR over expression is well studied in GBM and is typically associated with tumour progression. Activation of EGFR by epidermal growth factor (EGF) leads to induction of a cascade of downstream signalling pathways that eventually results in DNA synthesis and cellular proliferation (Oda et al., 2005). This study showed that sauristolactam is an inhibitor of GBM invasion by allowing only 58% of U251 cells to invade through ECM (Figure 6). The crucial role of EGFR in GBM and the literature on anticancer activity of sauristolactam on other cancer cell lines as discussed above makes it a candidate for further investigation. Any influence that sauristolactam may have on EGFR expression should be investigated. Further studies should be carried to identify the mode of action of this compound.

Compound SN631 and SN121 were identified as Xanthurenic acid (XA) (Table 2). XA is naturally found in brain as it is a metabolite of the tryptophan oxidation pathway (Gobaille et al., 2008). Tryptophan oxidation pathway is a major biochemical pathway through which many neurotoxins and neuroprotective compounds are produced in brain (Gobaille et al., 2008). From previous studies XA is known to have cytotoxic effect on senile cataract and some infectious diseases such as yellow fever and malaria and triggers apoptotic cell death at 10μ M concentration in human lens epithelial cells (Malina et al., 2002). The IC₅₀ of SN631 from this study was found to be 0.25 μ M (Figure 11c) and was not cytotoxic to the cells even at the highest tested concentration (1 μ M) (Figure 9b).

XA have also been identified as metabotropic glutamate receptor (mGlu) ligand (Copeland et al., 2013). Glutamate is an excitatory neurotransmitter in the CNS and is known to enhance proliferation and migration in GBM cells. Glutamate excitotoxicity leads to death of surrounding brain tissues and provides more space for GBM to grow (Corsi et al., 2019). Lyons et al., 2007 in their study have shown that autocrine glutamate signalling promotes glioma cell invasion by activating glutamate receptors like AMPA-Rs on neighbouring cells or on themselves (Lyons et al., 2007). Glutamate plays an important role in glioblastoma invasion as glutamate mediated Ca²⁺ oscillation is requirement for neuronal migration. Glutamate is released by glioma cells in exchange for cystine which is used in synthesis of GSH, a cellular antioxidant. GSH protects the tumour from reactive oxygen species thereby enabling glioma growth. A study conducted in 2008 by Sontheimer showed decreased growth and invasion of GBM when glutamate release from the tumour mass was indirectly impeded by pharmacological agents (Sontheimer, 2008). Metabotropic glutamate receptors can inhibit presynaptic neurotransmission thereby decreasing synaptic excitability (Sladeczek et al., 1993). Therefore, it is possible that XA being a metabotropic glutamate receptor ligand, could decrease glutamate excitotoxicity and thereby inhibit invasion.

Further, stimulating neuroblastoma cells by XA showed excitatory responses that led to increased cytosolic calcium ion levels suggesting the role of XA as a neuromodulator or neurotransmitter (Taleb et al., 2012). XA is also known to be able to penetrate the blood brain barrier into the brain freely which is a vital property as many molecules fail to penetrate the blood brain barrier (Gobaille et al., 2008). As XA is a metabolite found in brain, all the available studies discuss the effect of endogenous XA on mammalian brain cells and effects of exogenous XA application remains unknown (Copeland et al., 2018; Fazio et al., 2015; Taleb et al., 2012). Therefore, it is not possible to conclude based on the evidence from this study that XA could be a potential adjuvant in treating GBM. Further studies should be done in elucidating the method of action of XA in inhibiting invasion.

Compound SN620 is identified as enterocarpam II, which is an aristolactam (an alkaloid), like sauristolactam (SN545) (Table 2). Enterocarpam III showed cytotoxicity on liver cancer cell line HepG2 and mammalian breast cancer cell line MDA-MB-231 with IC₅₀s 26μ M and 51.3μ M respectively. 24-hour treatment with enterocarpam III led to induction of apoptosis through mitochondrial or intrinsic pathways with the activation of capsase-9 (Banjerdpongchai et al., 2015). Caldensine (SN546) is also an aristolactam with antiparasitic activity (Table 2). Antiparasitic activity of this compound was evaluated in chloroquine sensitive *P. falciparum* and the IC₅₀ was identified as 25μ M (Levrier et al., 2013). Caelestine (SN551) is a naturally occurring brominated quinoline carboxylic acid. This compound was evaluated for cytotoxicity at 100 μ M on three different mammalian cell lines (MCF-7 (breast cancer cell line), MM96L (melanoma cell line), NFF (neonatal foreskin fibroblast cells)) and was found to have only minimal cytotoxic effects at the tested concentration (Yin et al., 2010).

SN121 was identified as Gallic acid (GA) (Table 2). GA is a phenolic acid and has previously shown anticancer activity in small cell lung cancer cell line (Wang et al., 2016). The study by Wang et al., on SCLC H446 cells showed that GA possesses anticancer activity and acts synergistically with cisplatin to enhance its anticancer activity through the ROS dependent mitochondrial apoptotic markers. Another study in 2015 by Weng et al., on human oral cancer cells (SCC-4) revealed the role of GA in inducing DNA damage and inhibiting DNA repair thereby causing cell death in SCC-4 cells (Weng et al., 2015). GA was shown to induce apoptosis in human pancreatic cells in a dose and time dependent manner with IC₅₀s 102.3 and 135.2µM respectively after 48 hours of treatment (Liu et al., 2012). It was also found to potentiate the action of carboplatin/paclitaxel combination treatment for human cervical cancer by initiating apoptosis in multiple cancer cell lines however there is no insight on GA inhibiting invasion in any cancer cell line. Therefore, studies focusing on mode of action of GA in inhibiting cell invasion is a potential aspect that needs to be explored further.

Compounds SN387 and SN388 were identified as pestalactam A and methyl ether of pestalactam A respectively. While there are not many studies recorded on either of these compounds, pestalactam A was found to have moderate cytotoxicity on breast cancer cell line MCF-7 in a primary study where the compound was first identified (Davis et al., 2010). Cytotoxic activity of the compound was evaluated at a concentration of 100 μ M. Antimalarial activity of pestalactam A was tested in the same study and the results indicate potential antimalarial activity at a concentration of 25 μ M. It is rather interesting to find that 100 μ M of the compound showed only moderate cytotoxicity on mammalian breast cancer cells however the same compound at a much lesser concentration of 1 μ M was potent enough to inhibit glioblastoma invasion by almost 50% (Figure 6).

SN594 was identified as ellipticine (Table 2). Ellipticine is an alkaloid and is its role as a DNA intercalator has led to further investigations of its potential anticancer activity. This activity has been studied and supported in multiple cancer types including leukemia, breast cancer, lung cancer, colon cancer and glioblastoma (Russell et al., 2014; Stiborová et al., 2011; Ruckdeschel et al., 1992; Xu et al., 2008). Ellipticine was identified as a pro-drug as it ismetabolised by the body after administration into a pharmacologically active compound (Stiborová et al., 2012). Since it is a pro-drug, the pharmacological efficiency and toxicity of ellipticine is found to depend on its activation (Stiborová et al., 2011). It is known to arrest cell cycle progression by regulating the expression of cyclin B1 and cdc2, two important proteins involved in cell division and induce apoptosis (Kuo et al., 2005).

In glioblastoma cell lines ellipticine was seen to activate p53 pathway which is a stress signalling pathway in humans. In U87-MG cell line ellipticine caused an early (G0/G1) cell cycle arrest whilst in U373 cell line the cell cycle arrest occurred at S and G2/M phase (Martinkova et al., 2010). As it is a DNA intercalator, ellipticine inhibits the binding of topoisomerase II, a key enzyme in replication, to DNA thereby preventing cell division and leading to DNA damage suggesting its role as a mutagen. In addition, it is also known to form ellipticine-DNA adducts leading to cytotoxicity (Stiborová et al., 2011). However, there has been no mention of ellipticine inhibiting invasion of cancer cells. As ellipticine have multiple modes of action and since most of the studies have focused on cytotoxicity for evaluating anticancer effect of the compound, it is not very surprising that the inhibition of invasion by ellipticine is not studied. Therefore, it is worth further investigating the possible action of ellipticine in inhibiting the invasion of glioblastoma cells.

SN104 was identified as polyandrocarpamine (Table 2). Polyandrocarpamines are known to be potent kinase inhibitors (Loaëc et al., 2017). Kinases are vital class of proteins which regulate many functions like proliferation, cancer cell signalling and angiogenesis in cancer cells. According to the Loaëc et al., study in 2017, polyandrocaroamines show significant selective inhibitory effect on dual

specificity tyrosine regulated kinases (DYRKs) (Loaëc et al., 2017). DYRKs are reported to be involved in cancer-related events like altered metabolism, increased growth signalling, escaping apoptosis and migration and tissue invasion (Boni et al., 2020). DYRK inhibition in primary glioblastoma cells and neural progenitor cells was shown to reduce EGFR dependent growth and self-renewal capacity of normal and cancer cells (Pozo et al., 2013). Kinases actively participate in cancer cell invasion. For instance, focal adhesion kinases or FAKs play a significant role in integrin signalling (Tamura et al., 1999) and thereby directly relate to GBM cell invasion. Therefore, the possibility of this kinase inhibitor inhibiting GBM invasion is reasonable and should be further pursued to find its possible mechanism of action.

SN618 was identified as 3-methylbut-3-enyl-O-a-L-rhamno-pyranosyl-(1-6)-O-b-D-glucopyranoside (Table 2). Etoposide which is currently used as a second-tier treatment agent for GBM is also a beta-D-glucopyranoside (Kingston, 1989). Etoposide inhibits topoisomerase II binding to the DNA and leads to cell cycle arrest and in turn cell death (Montecucco et al., 2015). The compound identified in this study being a glucopyranoside could possibly have a closely related mode of action which is responsible for its inhibitory nature on glioblastoma cell line U251MG. The IC₅₀ of the compound was found to be 0.24μ M in this study. Though there is no literature available to compare, the identified IC₅₀ value being in sub micromolar level suggests that it is potent in inhibiting invasion in glioblastoma (Figure 11a).

Extracts from Sophora flavescens root inhibit invasion of U251-MG cells

Compound Kushen Injection (CKI) is being used in China since past three decades in combination with chemotherapeutic agents like oxaliplatin in treating gastric, liver, and non- small cell lung cancer (Aung et al., 2017). It is an extract from two TCM plants, *Radix Sophorae flavescentis* and *Rhizoma Smilacis Glabrae*. It is known to contain flavonoids, alkaloids, saccharides, and organic acids (Aung et al., 2017), however, no single compound has been identified responsible for its anticancer action (Nourmohammadi et al., 2019). This study evaluated the potential of root extracts made from *Sophora flavescens* in inhibiting GBM invasion. Root extracts at 2µg/ml concentration was not seen to have inhibitory properties when compared to corresponding controls (Figure 13). A higher concentration, 50µg/ml extracts showed inhibitory action (57%) on invasiveness of U251 cells (Figure 14). Dried roots of Line 4 Kushen plants extracted in ethanol and resuspended in DMSO showed higher inhibition of invasion (57.5%) as compared to Line 2 ethanol extracts resuspended in DMSO which did not inhibit invasion (122.87%). In case of water extracted samples resuspended in water, the invasion percentages were comparable for Line 4 (81.14%) and Line 2 (73.81%) (Figure 14). Overall, extracts from Line 4 shows higher activity than extracts from Line 2 (Figure 13 and figure 14). CKI traditionally used in combination with chemotherapeutic agents in treatment of gastric, liver, and non-

small cell lung carcinoma traditionally is a highly purified mixture extract and is directly administered as an injection to patients. Whereas this study utilised crude extracts prepared from roots of the Kushen plant which could account for the minor inhibitory action observed even at a higher concentration of 50µg/ml. Moreover, Nourmohammadi et al., study shows that it is not one compound responsible for the observed properties of CKI but rather it is the different fractions together that are responsible for the anticancer activity of CKI (Nourmohammadi et al., 2019). As the extracts prepared in this study used only one of the component plants root it is not surprising to see that inhibition of invasion is not as promising as compared to the original compound (CKI) (Figure 13 and figure 14).

Conclusion

Natural compound extracts including NatureBank compounds and Kushen root extracts identified in this study could be pursued further as potential drugs in treating GBM. The early, undetected invasion of GBM cells into surrounding tissues and leading to recurrence even after several rounds of chemotherapy is a major challenge in treating glioblastoma. The ability of compounds identified in this study to inhibit invasion without being cytotoxic to the cells can prove beneficial in treating glioblastoma as these compounds would inhibit glioblastoma cell invasion. Using agents that inhibit invasion in combination with standard chemotherapeutic agents could therefore be the right strategy to prevent tumour recurrence. This could be especially important in treating glioblastoma since brain is a terminally differentiated organ and therefore restricts the use of highly invasive surgical resection strategies as it would risk losing patient's cognitive skills. Further investigation needs to be carried out on each of the identified compounds to elucidate their mechanism of action, target molecules and any off-target effects that they might have.

Limitations of current study

Current study investigated the effect of different natural compounds in inhibiting the invasion of glioblastoma cell line U251. This study was carried out in a short span of time (9 months). The overall delay in shipping due to the global pandemic affected the study. Delivery of cell culture reagents and the compounds from NatureBank were delayed and which delayed the start of experiments. Initially, it was decided to evaluate the inhibitory action of the original CKI on U251 cells and progress further by evaluating the gene expression levels. However, that did not take off, as sourcing CKI from China was not a viable option considering current circumstances and shipping delays.

Transwell invasion assays were the main technique followed in this study to identify inhibitory action of compounds. These assays use transwell invasion plates that come with special inserts. These inserts are not usually reused once they are fixed and stained. The shortage of transwell plates and shipping delays affected the pace of experiments. Reusing the inserts without ensuring complete removal of

cells from previous experiment can lead to increase in cell count and false negatives. An article by Kato et al., 2021 stated that it is safe to reuse transwell inserts once they are trypsinised and sterilised by ethanol and UV light (refer appendix for detailed repurposing protocol). A similar protocol was followed to successfully clean the inserts and the same was visualised under microscope to ensure that there were no remaining residues from the previous experiments.

The cells stained after transwell assay are imaged and counted manually to express them as invasion percentages with respect to the corresponding controls. Even though, efforts were made to use different software like Fuji ImageJ to automatically count the cells, these efforts failed as the morphology of the cells and prominent Matrigel pores increased the noise and made it impossible to count these cells using any existing cell counting plugins in ImageJ. Therefore, there is a higher chance of counter bias and human error. Utilising other approaches like blinded experiments can be beneficial to mitigate this error and ensure the precision of the results. However, transwell insert assays are still considered the gold standard for invasion experiments.

Future direction

Drug discovery is often a very long process which typically takes 10-12 years for an identified compound to be tested, tried, and formulated into an effective drug. Main steps in drug discovery pipeline include basic research, lead discovery, pre-clinical trials, clinical trials and finally filing to be approved as a drug (Hughes et al., 2011). This study was a preliminary effort to identify lead/leads for identification of compounds that could potentially prevent the invasion of GBM cells. Further studies must be carried out in identifying potential target/targets on which these compounds are acting and their mechanism of action. This can be done by extracting the mRNA from cells which have been treated by respective compounds and using qPCR to study expression levels of different genes that are crucial in glioblastoma invasion.

As tumour heterogeneity is a well-known challenge in treatment of glioblastoma, conducting preclinical experiments in multiple GBM cell lines will prove beneficial. As commercial cell lines do not completely mimic tumours *in-vivo*, many aspects like influence of tumour microenvironment and cross talk between different cell types present within the tumour cannot be fully understood from them. Primary cell are cells derived from biopsy samples which are cultured preserving their epigenetic characteristics. They can be cultured for only a specific amount of time. Conducting the same study on primary cells would lead to better understanding of the action of the identified compounds *in-vivo*. Simultaneously, murine xenograft models could also be utilised to study any off-target effects and toxicity that the compounds may cause once the compound is inside a living system.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

Abercrombie M, Dunn GA, Heath JP. The shape and movement of fibroblasts in culture. Soc Gen Physiol Ser. 1977; 32:57-70. PMID: 333596.

Aborehab, N.M., Osama, N. Effect of Gallic acid in potentiating chemotherapeutic effect of Paclitaxel in HeLa cervical cancer cells. *Cancer Cell Int* **19**, 154 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12935-019-0868-0

Adams JC. Cell-matrix contact structures. Cell Mol Life Sci. 2001 Mar;58(3):371-92. doi: 10.1007/PL00000864. PMID: 11315186.

Alifieris, C., Trafalis, D.T., 2015. Glioblastoma multiforme: Pathogenesis and treatment. Pharmacology & Therapeutics 152, 63–82. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pharmthera.2015.05.005</u>

Anjum, K., Shagufta, B.I., Abbas, S.Q., Patel, S., Khan, I., Shah, S.A.A., Akhter, N., Hassan, S.S. ul, 2017. Current status and future therapeutic perspectives of glioblastoma multiforme (GBM) therapy:
A review. Biomedicine & Pharmacotherapy 92, 681–689.
<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopha.2017.05.125</u>

Aung, T, Qu, Z, Kortschak, R & Adelson, D 2017, Understanding the Effectiveness of Natural Compound Mixtures in Cancer through Their Molecular Mode of Action, MDPI AG, *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, vol. 18, no. 3, p. 656.

Badaut, J., Fukuda, A.M., Jullienne, A., Petry, K.G., 2014. Aquaporin and brain diseases. Biochim Biophys Acta 1840, 1554–1565. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbagen.2013.10.032</u>

Banjerdpongchai, R., Wudtiwai, B., & Pompimon, W. (2015). Enterocarpam-III induces human liver and breast cancer cell apoptosis via mitochondrial and caspase-9 activation. *Asian Pacific journal of cancer prevention: APJCP*, *16*(5), 1833–1837. https://doi.org/10.7314/apjcp.2015.16.5.1833

Barzegar Behrooz, A., Syahir, A., Ahmad, S., 2019. CD133: beyond a cancer stem cell biomarker. J Drug Target 27, 257–269. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/1061186X.2018.1479756</u>

Binder, D.K., Yao, X., Zador, Z., Sick, T.J., Verkman, A.S., Manley, G.T., 2006. Increased seizure duration and slowed potassium kinetics in mice lacking aquaporin-4 water channels. Glia 53, 631–636. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/glia.20318</u>

Bonavia, R., Inda, M.-M., Cavenee, W.K., Furnari, F.B., 2011. Heterogeneity maintenance in glioblastoma: a social network. Cancer Res 71, 4055–4060. <u>https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-11-0153</u>

Boni, J., Rubio-Perez, C., López-Bigas, N., Fillat, C., & de la Luna, S. (2020). The DYRK Family of Kinases in Cancer: Molecular Functions and Therapeutic Opportunities. *Cancers*, *12*(8), 2106. https://doi.org/10.3390/cancers12082106

Bonnet, D., Dick, J. Human acute myeloid leukemia is organized as a hierarchy that originates from a primitive hematopoietic cell. *Nat Med* **3**, 730–737 (1997). https://doi.org/10.1038/nm0797-730

Brain Cancer, Cancer Australia, 20 October 2020, viewed on 18 April 2021 https://www.canceraustralia.gov.au/affected-cancer/cancer-types/brain-cancer/brain-canceraustralia-statistics

Burger, P.C., 2006. What is an Oligodendroglioma? Brain Pathol 12, 257–259. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1750-3639.2002.tb00440.x

Burridge K, Chrzanowska-Wodnicka M. Focal adhesions, contractility, and signaling. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol. 1996; 12:463-518. doi: 10.1146/annurev.cellbio.12.1.463. PMID: 8970735.

Chen, C., Xu, T., Lu, Y., Chen, J. and Wu, S. (2013), The efficacy of temozolomide for recurrent glioblastoma multiforme. Eur J Neurol, 20: 223-230. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-1331.2012.03778.x</u>

Chinot, O.L., Honoré, S., Dufour, H., Barrié, M., Figarella-Branger, D., Muracciole, X., Braguer, D., Martin, P.J., & Grisoli, F. (2001). Safety and efficacy of temozolomide in patients with recurrent anaplastic oligodendrogliomas after standard radiotherapy and chemotherapy. *Journal of clinical oncology: official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology, 19 9*, 2449-55.

Choi YL, Kim JK, Choi SU, Min YK, Bae MA, Kim BT, Heo JN. Synthesis of aristolactam analogues and evaluation of their antitumor activity. Bioorg Med Chem Lett. 2009 Jun 1;19(11):3036-40. doi: 10.1016/j.bmcl.2009.04.020. Epub 2009 Apr 10. PMID: 19394218.

Claes, A., Idema, A.J., Wesseling, P., 2007. Diffuse glioma growth: a guerilla war. Acta Neuropathol 114, 443–458. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00401-007-0293-7</u>

Copeland CS, Neale SA, Salt TE. Actions of Xanthurenic acid, a putative endogenous Group II metabotropic glutamate receptor agonist, on sensory transmission in the thalamus.

Neuropharmacology. 2013 Mar; 66:133-42. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropharm.2012.03.009. Epub 2012 Apr 2. PMID: 22491023.

Corsi L, Mescola A, Alessandrini A. Glutamate Receptors and Glioblastoma Multiforme: An Old "Route" for New Perspectives. Int J Mol Sci. 2019 Apr 11;20(7):1796. doi: 10.3390/ijms20071796. PMID: 30978987; PMCID: PMC6479730.

Day, R.E., Kitchen, P., Owen, D.S., Bland, C., Marshall, L., Conner, A.C., Bill, R.M., Conner, M.T., 2014. Human aquaporins: regulators of transcellular water flow. Biochim Biophys Acta 1840, 1492–1506. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbagen.2013.09.033</u>

Dalerba P, Cho RW, Clarke MF. Cancer stem cells: models and concepts. Annu Rev Med. 2007; 58:267-84. doi: 10.1146/annurev.med.58.062105.204854. PMID: 17002552.

Davis, R.A., Carroll, A.R., Andrews, K.T., Boyle, G.M., Tran, T.L., Healy, P.C., Kalaitzis, J.A., Shivas, R.G., 2010. Pestalactams A–C: novel caprolactams from the endophytic fungus Pestalotiopsis sp. Org. Biomol. Chem. 8, 1785–1790. <u>https://doi.org/10.1039/B924169H</u>

Ding, T., Gu, F., Fu, L., Ma, Y., 2010. Aquaporin-4 in glioma invasion and an analysis of molecular mechanisms. J Clin Neurosci 17, 1359–1361. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jocn.2010.02.014</u>

Ding, T., Ma, Y., Li, W., Liu, X., Ying, G., Fu, L., Gu, F., 2011. Role of aquaporin-4 in the regulation of migration and invasion of human glioma cells. Int J Oncol 38, 1521–1531. https://doi.org/10.3892/ijo.2011.983

Ding, T., Zhou, Y., Sun, K., Jiang, W., Li, Wenliang, Liu, X., Tian, C., Li, Z., Ying, G., Fu, L., Gu, F., Li, Weidong, Ma, Y., 2013. Knockdown a water channel protein, aquaporin 4, induced glioblastoma cell apoptosis. PLoS One 8, e66751. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0066751</u>

Facchino, S., Abdouh, M., Bernier, G., 2011. Brain Cancer Stem Cells: Current Status on Glioblastoma Multiforme. Cancers 3, 1777–1797. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/cancers3021777</u>

Farrell, C.J., Plotkin, S.R., 2007. Genetic Causes of Brain Tumors: Neurofibromatosis, Tuberous Sclerosis, von Hippel-Lindau, and Other Syndromes. Neurologic Clinics, Brain Tumors in Adults 25, 925–946. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ncl.2007.07.008</u>

Fazio, F., Lionetto, L., Curto, M., Iacovelli, L., Cavallari, M., Zappulla, C., ... & Simmaco, M. (2015). Xanthurenic acid activates mGlu2/3 metabotropic glutamate receptors and is a potential trait marker for schizophrenia. *Scientific reports*, *5*(1), 1-14.

Fossdal, G., Vik-Mo, E.O., Sandberg, C., Varghese, M., Kaarbø, M., Telmo, E., Langmoen, I.A., Murrell, W., 2012. Aqp 9 and brain tumour stem cells. ScientificWorldJournal 2012, 915176. https://doi.org/10.1100/2012/915176

Friedl P, Bröcker EB. The biology of cell locomotion within three-dimensional extracellular matrix. Cell Mol Life Sci. 2000 Jan 20;57(1):41-64. doi: 10.1007/s000180050498. PMID: 10949580.

Friedl P, Maaser K, Klein CE, Niggemann B, Krohne G, Zänker KS. Migration of highly aggressive MV3 melanoma cells in 3-dimensional collagen lattices results in local matrix reorganization and shedding of alpha2 and beta1 integrins and CD44. Cancer Res. 1997 May 15;57(10):2061-70. PMID: 9158006.

Friedl, P., Wolf, K. Tumour-cell invasion and migration: diversity and escape mechanisms. *Nat Rev Cancer* **3**, 362–374 (2003). https://doi.org/10.1038/nrc1075

Freije, W.A., Castro-Vargas, F.E., Fang, Z., Horvath, S., Cloughesy, T., Liau, L.M., Mischel, P.S., Nelson, S.F., n.d. Gene Expression Profiling of Gliomas Strongly Predicts Survival 9.

Garcia, J. H., Jain, S., & Aghi, M. K. (2021). Metabolic Drivers of Invasion in Glioblastoma. *Frontiers in cell and developmental biology*, *9*, 683276. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcell.2021.683276

Ghosh, D., Nandi, S., Bhattacharjee, S., 2018. Combination therapy to checkmate Glioblastoma: clinical challenges and advances. Clinical and Translational Medicine 7, e33. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40169-018-0211-8

Gobaille, S., Kemmel, V., Brumaru, D., Dugave, C., Aunis, D., & Maitre, M. (2008). Xanthurenic acid distribution, transport, accumulation and release in the rat brain. *Journal of neurochemistry*, *105*(3), 982-993.

Hammarström S. (1999). The carcinoembryonic antigen (CEA) family: structures, suggested functions and expression in normal and malignant tissues. *Seminars in cancer biology*, 9(2), 67–81. https://doi.org/10.1006/scbi.1998.0119

Hapach, L.A., Mosier, J.A., Wang, W. et al. Engineered models to parse apart the metastatic cascade. *npj Precis. Onc.* **3**, 20 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41698-019-0092-3

Hayashi, Y., Edwards, N.A., Proescholdt, M.A., Oldfield, E.H., Merrill, M.J., 2007. Regulation and function of aquaporin-1 in glioma cells. Neoplasia 9, 777–787. <u>https://doi.org/10.1593/neo.07454</u>

Hughes, J. P., Rees, S., Kalindjian, S. B., & Philpott, K. L. (2011). Principles of early drug discovery. *British journal of pharmacology*, *162*(6), 1239–1249. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1476-5381.2010.01127.x

Hynes RO. Integrins: bidirectional, allosteric signaling machines. Cell. 2002 Sep 20;110(6):673-87. doi: 10.1016/s0092-8674(02)00971-6. PMID: 12297042.

Iacob, G., & Dinca, E. B. (2009). Current data and strategy in glioblastoma multiforme. *Journal of medicine and life*, 2(4), 386–393.

Inda MM, Bonavia R, Mukasa A, Narita Y, Sah DW, Vandenberg S, Brennan C, Johns TG, Bachoo R, Hadwiger P, Tan P, Depinho RA, Cavenee W, Furnari F. Tumor heterogeneity is an active process maintained by a mutant EGFR-induced cytokine circuit in glioblastoma. Genes Dev. 2010 Aug 15;24(16):1731-45. doi: 10.1101/gad.1890510. PMID: 20713517; PMCID: PMC2922502.

Ishibashi, K., Tanaka, Y., Morishita, Y., 2014. The role of mammalian superaquaporins inside the cell. Biochim Biophys Acta 1840, 1507–1512. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbagen.2013.10.039</u>

Justus, C. R., Leffler, N., Ruiz-Echevarria, M., & Yang, L. V. (2014). In vitro cell migration and invasion assays. *Journal of visualized experiments: JoVE*, (88), 51046. https://doi.org/10.3791/51046

Jelen, S., Parm Ulhøi, B., Larsen, A., Frøkiær, J., Nielsen, S., Rützler, M., 2013. AQP9 expression in glioblastoma multiforme tumors is limited to a small population of astrocytic cells and CD15(+)/CalB (+) leukocytes. PLoS One 8, e75764. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0075764</u>

Kato, T., Mikami, Y., Sun, L., Rogers, T. D., Grubb, B. R., Morrison, C. B., Ehre, C., Sears, P. R., Ostrowski, L. E., Randell, S. H., & Boucher, R. C. (2021). Reuse of Cell Culture Inserts for *In Vitro* Human Primary Airway Epithelial Cell Studies. *American journal of respiratory cell and molecular biology*, *64*(6), 760–764. https://doi.org/10.1165/rcmb.2021-0033LE

Kingston, D.G.I. (1989). Non-Alkaloid Natural Products as Anticancer Agents. *Cancer Management in Man*, pp.152–158.

Kuo, P. L., Hsu, Y. L., Chang, C. H., & Lin, C. C. (2005). The mechanism of ellipticine-induced apoptosis and cell cycle arrest in human breast MCF-7 cancer cells. *Cancer letters*, 223(2), 293–301. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.canlet.2004.09.046

Lapidot, T., Sirard, C., Vormoor, J. *et al.* A cell initiating human acute myeloid leukaemia after transplantation into SCID mice. *Nature* **367**, 645–648 (1994). https://doi.org/10.1038/367645a0

Lauffenburger DA, Horwitz AF. Cell migration: a physically integrated molecular process. Cell. 1996 Feb 9;84(3):359-69. doi: 10.1016/s0092-8674(00)81280-5. PMID: 8608589.

Levrier, C., Balastrier, M., Beattie, K.D., Carroll, A.R., Martin, F., Choomuenwai, V. and Davis, R.A., 2013. Pyridocoumarin, aristolactam and aporphine alkaloids from the Australian rainforest plant Goniothalamus australis. *Phytochemistry*, *86*, pp.121-126.

Li Z, Liu H, Li B, Zhang Y, Piao C. Saurolactam Inhibits Proliferation, Migration, and Invasion of Human Osteosarcoma Cells. Cell Biochem Biophys. 2015 Jul;72(3):719-26. doi: 10.1007/s12013-015-0523-x. PMID: 25627547.

Liberti, M.V., Locasale, J.W., 2016. The Warburg Effect: How Does it Benefit Cancer Cells? Trends Biochem Sci 41, 211–218. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tibs.2015.12.001</u>

Liu, Z., Li, D., Yu, L., & Niu, F. (2012). Gallic acid as a cancer-selective agent induces apoptosis in pancreatic cancer cells. *Chemotherapy*, *58*(3), 185–194. https://doi.org/10.1159/000337103

Loaëc, N., Attanasio, E., Villiers, B., Durieu, E., Tahtouh, T., Cam, M., Davis, R., Alencar, A., Roué, M., Bourguet-Kondracki, M.-L., Proksch, P., Limanton, E., Guiheneuf, S., Carreaux, F., Bazureau, J.-P., Klautau, M., Meijer, L., 2017. Marine-Derived 2-Aminoimidazolone Alkaloids. Leucettamine B-Related Polyandrocarpamines Inhibit Mammalian and Protozoan DYRK & CLK Kinases. Marine Drugs 15, 316.

Lyons SA, Chung WJ, Weaver AK, Ogunrinu T, Sontheimer H. Autocrine glutamate signaling promotes glioma cell invasion. Cancer Res. 2007 Oct 1;67(19):9463-71. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-07-2034. Erratum in: Cancer Res. 2007 Nov 1;67(21):10624. PMID: 17909056; PMCID: PMC2045073.

Maaser K, Wolf K, Klein CE, Niggemann B, Zänker KS, Bröcker EB, Friedl P. Functional hierarchy of simultaneously expressed adhesion receptors: integrin alpha2beta1 but not CD44 mediates MV3 melanoma cell migration and matrix reorganization within three-dimensional hyaluronan-containing collagen matrices. Mol Biol Cell. 1999 Oct;10(10):3067-79. doi: 10.1091/mbc.10.10.3067. PMID: 10512851; PMCID: PMC25559.

Malina, H., Richter, C., Frueh, B. *et al.* Lens epithelial cell apoptosis and intracellular Ca²⁺increase in the presence of xanthurenic acid. *BMC Ophthalmol* **2**, 1 (2002). https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2415-2-1

Mann, J. Natural products in cancer chemotherapy: past, present and future. *Nat Rev Cancer* **2**, 143–148 (2002). https://doi.org/10.1038/nrc723

Martinkova, E., Maglott, A., Leger, D. Y., Bonnet, D., Stiborova, M., Takeda, K., Martin, S., & Dontenwill, M. (2010). alpha5beta1 integrin antagonists reduce chemotherapy-induced premature senescence and facilitate apoptosis in human glioblastoma cells. *International journal of cancer*, *127*(5), 1240–1248. https://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.25187

Martino E, Della Volpe S, Terribile E, Benetti E, Sakaj M, Centamore A, Sala A, Collina S. The long story of camptothecin: From traditional medicine to drugs. Bioorg Med Chem Lett. 2017 Feb 15;27(4):701-707. doi: 10.1016/j.bmcl.2016.12.085. Epub 2016 Dec 31. PMID: 28073672.

McCoy, E., Sontheimer, H., (2007) Expression and function of water channels (aquaporins) in migrating malignant astrocytes. Glia 55, 1034–1043. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/glia.20524</u>

Montecucco, A., Zanetta, F., & Biamonti, G. (2015). Molecular mechanisms of etoposide. *EXCLI journal*, *14*, 95–108. https://doi.org/10.17179/excli2015-561

Moore N, Lyle S. Quiescent, slow-cycling stem cell populations in cancer: a review of the evidence and discussion of significance, (2011), J Oncol. 2011:396076. doi: 10.1155/2011/396076. Epub 2010 Sep 29. PMID: 20936110; PMCID: PMC2948913.

Motaln, H., Koren, A., Gruden, K., Ramšak, Ž., Schichor, C., & Lah, T. T. (2015). Heterogeneous glioblastoma cell crosstalk promotes phenotype alterations and enhanced drug resistance. *Oncotarget*, *6*(38), 40998–41017. https://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.5701

Nagelhus, E.A., Mathiisen, T.M., Ottersen, O.P., 2004. Aquaporin-4 in the central nervous system: cellular and subcellular distribution and coexpression with KIR4.1. Neuroscience 129, 905–913. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2004.08.053

Nishikawa R, Sugiyama T, Narita Y, Furnari F, Cavenee WK, Matsutani M. Immunohistochemical analysis of the mutant epidermal growth factor, deltaEGFR, in glioblastoma. Brain Tumor Pathol. 2004;21(2):53-6. doi: 10.1007/BF02484510. PMID: 15700833.

Nobili S, Lippi D, Witort E, Donnini M, Bausi L, Mini E, Capaccioli S. Natural compounds for cancer treatment and prevention. Pharmacol Res. 2009 Jun;59(6):365-78. doi: 10.1016/j.phrs.2009.01.017. Epub 2009 Feb 7. PMID: 19429468.

Nourmohammadi, S., Aung, T.N., Cui, J., Pei, J.V., De Ieso, M.L., Harata-Lee, Y., Qu, Z., Adelson, D.L., Yool, A.J., 2019. Effect of Compound Kushen Injection, a Natural Compound Mixture, and Its Identified Chemical Components on Migration and Invasion of Colon, Brain, and Breast Cancer Cell Lines. Front. Oncol. 9. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fonc.2019.00314</u>

Nutt, C.L., Mani, D.R., Betensky, R.A., Tamayo, P., Cairncross, J.G., Ladd, C., Pohl, U., Hartmann, C., McLaughlin, M.E., Batchelor, T.T., Black, P.M., Pomeroy, S.L., Golub, T.R., Louis, D.N., n.d. Gene Expression-based Classification of Malignant Gliomas Correlates Better with Survival than Histological Classification 7.

O'Brien, J., Wilson, I., Orton, T., Pognan, F., 2000. Investigation of the Alamar Blue (resazurin) fluorescent dye for the assessment of mammalian cell cytotoxicity. European Journal of Biochemistry 267, 5421–5426. <u>https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1432-1327.2000.01606.x</u>

Oda, K., Matsuoka, Y., Funahashi, A. and Kitano, H., 2005. A comprehensive pathway map of epidermal growth factor receptor signaling. *Molecular systems biology*, *1*(1), pp.2005-0010.

Oh M, Lee JY, Shin DH, Park JH, Oian T, Kim HJ, Cho SD, Oh SH, Min YK, Kong G. The in vitro and in vivo anti-tumor effect of KO-202125, a sauristolactam derivative, as a novel epidermal growth factor receptor inhibitor in human breast cancer. Cancer Sci. 2011 Mar;102(3):597-604. doi: 10.1111/j.1349-7006.2010.01817. x. Epub 2011 Jan 10. PMID: 21205071.

Ohuchi E, Imai K, Fujii Y, Sato H, Seiki M, Okada Y. Membrane type 1 matrix metalloproteinase digests interstitial collagens and other extracellular matrix macromolecules. J Biol Chem. 1997 Jan 24;272(4):2446-51. doi: 10.1074/jbc.272.4.2446. PMID: 8999957.

Oshio, K., Binder, D.K., Liang, Y., Bollen, A., Feuerstein, B., Berger, M.S., Manley, G.T., 2005. Expression of the aquaporin-1 water channel in human glial tumors. Neurosurgery 56, 375–381; discussion 375-381. <u>https://doi.org/10.1227/01.neu.0000148904.57841.6b</u>

Papadopoulos, M.C., Verkman, A.S., 2013. Aquaporin water channels in the nervous system. Nat Rev Neurosci 14, 265–277. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn3468</u>

Perry, A., & Wesseling, P. (2016). Histologic classification of gliomas. *Handbook of clinical neurology*, *134*, 71–95. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-802997-8.00005-0

Persano, L., Rampazzo, E., Basso, G., Viola, G., 2013. Glioblastoma cancer stem cells: Role of the microenvironment and therapeutic targeting. Biochemical Pharmacology, Dysfunctional Cell

Signaling Dynamics in Oncology: Diagnostic, Prognostic and Treatment Opportunities 85, 612–622. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bcp.2012.10.001

Pozo, N., Zahonero, C., Fernández, P., Liñares, J. M., Ayuso, A., Hagiwara, M., Pérez, A., Ricoy, J. R., Hernández-Laín, A., Sepúlveda, J. M., & Sánchez-Gómez, P. (2013). Inhibition of DYRK1A destabilizes EGFR and reduces EGFR-dependent glioblastoma growth. *The Journal of clinical investigation*, *123*(6), 2475–2487. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI63623

PubChem (n.d.). *Sauristolactam*. [online] pubchem.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov. Available at: https://pubchem.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/compound/Sauristolactam#section=Chemical-Gene-Co-Occurrences-in-Literature [Accessed 5 Dec. 2021].

Rojek, A., Praetorius, J., Frøkiaer, J., Nielsen, S., Fenton, R.A., 2008. A current view of the mammalian aquaglyceroporins. Annu Rev Physiol 70, 301–327. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.physiol.70.113006.100452

Ruckdeschel, J. C., Modi, S. P., el-Hamouly, W., Portuese, E., & Archer, S. (1992). N-methylcarbamate derivatives of ellipticine and olivacine with cytotoxic activity against four human lung cancer cell lines. *Journal of medicinal chemistry*, *35*(26), 4854–4857. https://doi.org/10.1021/jm00104a011

Russell, E. G., O'Sullivan, E. C., Miller, C. M., Stanicka, J., McCarthy, F. O., & Cotter, T. G. (2014). Ellipticine derivative induces potent cytostatic effect in acute myeloid leukaemia cells. *Investigational new drugs*, *32*(6), 1113–1122. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10637-014-0140-3

Saadoun, S., Papadopoulos, M.C., Davies, D.C., Bell, B.A., Krishna, S., 2002. Increased aquaporin 1 water channel expression in human brain tumours. Br J Cancer 87, 621–623. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.bjc.6600512

Schultz, C.J., Goonetilleke, S.N., Liang, J., Lahnstein, J., Levin, K.A., Bianco-Miotto, T., Burton, R.A., Mather, D.E., Chalmers, K.J., 2021. Analysis of Genetic Diversity in the Traditional Chinese Medicine Plant 'Kushen' (Sophora flavescens Ait.). Front. Plant Sci. 0. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2021.704201

Sladeczek, F., Momiyama, A. and Takahashi, T., 1993. Presynaptic inhibitory action of a metabotropic glutamate receptor agonist on excitatory transmission in visual cortical neurons. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. Series B: Biological Sciences*, 253(1338), pp.297-303.

Snuderl M, Fazlollahi L, Le LP, Nitta M, Zhelyazkova BH, Davidson CJ, Akhavanfard S, Cahill DP, Aldape KD, Betensky RA, Louis DN, Iafrate AJ. Mosaic amplification of multiple receptor tyrosine kinase genes in glioblastoma. Cancer Cell. 2011 Dec 13;20(6):810-7. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2011.11.005. Epub 2011 Dec 1. PMID: 22137795.

Sontheimer, H. (2008), A role for glutamate in growth and invasion of primary brain tumors. Journal of Neurochemistry, 105: 287-295. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1471-4159.2008.05301.x</u>

Sottoriva, A., Spiteri, I., Piccirillo, S. G., Touloumis, A., Collins, V. P., Marioni, J. C., Curtis, C., Watts, C., & Tavaré, S. (2013). Intratumor heterogeneity in human glioblastoma reflects cancer evolutionary dynamics. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *110*(10), 4009–4014. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1219747110

Stiborová, M., Poljaková, J., Martínková, E., Bořek-Dohalská, L., Eckschlager, T., Kizek, R., & Frei, E. (2011). Ellipticine cytotoxicity to cancer cell lines - a comparative study. *Interdisciplinary toxicology*, *4*(2), 98–105. https://doi.org/10.2478/v10102-011-0017-7

Stiborová, M., Poljaková, J., Martínková, E., Ulrichová, J., Simánek, V., Dvořák, Z., & Frei, E. (2012). Ellipticine oxidation and DNA adduct formation in human hepatocytes is catalyzed by human cytochromes P450 and enhanced by cytochrome b5. *Toxicology*, *302*(2-3), 233–241. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tox.2012.08.004

Stieber, D., Golebiewska, A., Evers, L., Lenkiewicz, E., Brons, N. H., Nicot, N., Oudin, A., Bougnaud, S., Hertel, F., Bjerkvig, R., Vallar, L., Barrett, M. T., & Niclou, S. P. (2014). Glioblastomas are composed of genetically divergent clones with distinct tumourigenic potential and variable stem cell-associated phenotypes. *Acta neuropathologica*, *127*(2), 203–219. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00401-013-1196-4

Stupp, R., Mason, W.P., van den Bent, M.J., Weller, M., Fisher, B., Taphoorn, M.J.B., Belanger, K., Brandes, A.A., Marosi, C., Bogdahn, U., Curschmann, J., Janzer, R.C., Ludwin, S.K., Gorlia, T., Allgeier, A., Lacombe, D., Cairncross, J.G., Eisenhauer, E., Mirimanoff, R.O., 2005. Radiotherapy plus Concomitant and Adjuvant Temozolomide for Glioblastoma. New England Journal of Medicine 352, 987–996. <u>https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa043330</u>

Sun, C., Yu, Y., Wang, L. *et al.* Additive antiangiogenesis effect of ginsenoside Rg3 with low-dose metronomic temozolomide on rat glioma cells both in vivo and in vitro. *J Exp Clin Cancer Res* **35**, 32 (2016). https://doi.org/10.1186/s13046-015-0274-y

Taleb O, Maammar M, Brumaru D, Bourguignon JJ, Schmitt M, et al. (2012) Xanthurenic Acid Binds to Neuronal G-Protein-Coupled Receptors That Secondarily Activate Cationic Channels in the Cell Line NCB-20. PLOS ONE 7(11): e48553. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0048553

Tamura, M., Gu, J., Takino, T., Yamada, K.M., 1999. Tumor Suppressor PTEN Inhibition of Cell Invasion, Migration, and Growth: Differential Involvement of Focal Adhesion Kinase and p130Cas. Cancer Res 59, 442–449.

Torrisi, F., Vicario, N., Spitale, F.M., Cammarata, F.P., Minafra, L., Salvatorelli, L., Russo, G., Cuttone, G., Valable, S., Gulino, R., Magro, G., Parenti, R., 2020. The Role of Hypoxia and SRC Tyrosine Kinase in Glioblastoma Invasiveness and Radioresistance. Cancers 12, 2860.

Tran, B., Rosenthal, M.A., 2010. Survival comparison between glioblastoma multiforme and other incurable cancers. Journal of Clinical Neuroscience 17, 417–421. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jocn.2009.09.004

Tse, T., Sehdev, S., Seely, J., Gravel, D.H., Clemons, M., Cordeiro, E. and Arnaout, A., 2021. Neoadjuvant Chemotherapy in Breast Cancer: Review of the Evidence and Conditions That Facilitated Its Use during the Global Pandemic. *Current Oncology*, 28(2), pp.1338-1347.

Villano, J.L., Seery, T.E. & Bressler, L.R. Temozolomide in malignant gliomas: current use and future targets. *Cancer Chemother Pharmacol* **64**, 647–655 (2009). https://doi.org/10.1007/s00280-009-1050-5

Visvader, J., Lindeman, G. Cancer stem cells in solid tumours: accumulating evidence and unresolved questions. *Nat Rev Cancer* **8**, 755–768 (2008). https://doi.org/10.1038/nrc2499

Visvader JE, Lindeman GJ. Cancer stem cells: current status and evolving complexities. Cell Stem Cell. 2012 Jun 14;10(6):717-728. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2012.05.007. PMID: 22704512.

Wall, M. E., Wani, M. C., Cook, C. E., Palmer, K. H., McPhail, A. A., & Sim, G. A. (1966). Plant antitumor agents. I. The isolation and structure of camptothecin, a novel alkaloidal leukemia and tumor inhibitor from camptotheca acuminata1, 2. *Journal of the American Chemical Society*, 88(16), 3888-3890.

Wang, R., Ma, L., Weng, D., Yao, J., Liu, X., & Jin, F. (2016). Gallic acid induces apoptosis and enhances the anticancer effects of cisplatin in human small cell lung cancer H446 cell line via the ROS-dependent mitochondrial apoptotic pathway. Oncology Reports, 35, 3075-3083. https://doi.org/10.3892/or.2016.4690 Warth, A., Kröger, S., Wolburg, H., 2004. Redistribution of aquaporin-4 in human glioblastoma correlates with loss of agrin immunoreactivity from brain capillary basal laminae. Acta Neuropathol 107, 311–318. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00401-003-0812-0

Warth, A., Mittelbronn, M., Wolburg, H., 2005. Redistribution of the water channel protein aquaporin-4 and the K+ channel protein Kir4.1 differs in low- and high-grade human brain tumors. Acta Neuropathol 109, 418–426. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00401-005-0984-x</u>

Warth, A., Simon, P., Capper, D., Goeppert, B., Tabatabai, G., Herzog, H., Dietz, K., Stubenvoll, F., Ajaaj, R., Becker, R., Weller, M., Meyermann, R., Wolburg, H., Mittelbronn, M., 2007. Expression pattern of the water channel aquaporin-4 in human gliomas is associated with blood-brain barrier disturbance but not with patient survival. J Neurosci Res 85, 1336–1346. https://doi.org/10.1002/jnr.21224

Watanabe, K., Tachibana, O., Sato, K., Yonekawa, Y., Kleihues, P., Ohgaki, H., 1996. Overexpression of the EGF Receptor and p53 Mutations are Mutually Exclusive in the Evolution of Primary and Secondary Glioblastomas. Brain Pathology 6, 217–223. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1750-3639.1996.tb00848.x</u>

Wen, P.Y., Kesari, S., 2008. Malignant Gliomas in Adults. New England Journal of Medicine 359, 492–507. <u>https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMra0708126</u>

Weng, S.-W., Hsu, S.-C., Liu, H.-C., Ji, B.-C., Lien, J.-C., Yu, F.-S., Liu, K.-C., Lai, K.-C., Lin, J.-P., Chung, J.-G., 2015. Gallic Acid Induces DNA Damage and Inhibits DNA Repair-associated Protein Expression in Human Oral Cancer SCC-4 Cells. Anticancer Research 35, 2077–2084.

Whiteside T. L. (2008). The tumor microenvironment and its role in promoting tumor growth. *Oncogene*, 27(45), 5904–5912. https://doi.org/10.1038/onc.2008.271

Wikstrand CJ, Bigner SH, Bigner DD. Demonstration of complex antigenic heterogeneity in a human glioma cell line and eight derived clones by specific monoclonal antibodies. Cancer Res. 1983 Jul;43(7):3327-34. PMID: 6303581.

Xu, G. W., Mawji, I. A., Macrae, C. J., Koch, C. A., Datti, A., Wrana, J. L., Dennis, J. W., & Schimmer, A. D. (2008). A high-content chemical screen identifies ellipticine as a modulator of p53 nuclear localization. *Apoptosis: an international journal on programmed cell death*, *13*(3), 413–422. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10495-007-0175-4 Yin, S., Boyle, G. M., Carroll, A. R., Kotiw, M., Dearnaley, J., Quinn, R. J., & Davis, R. A. (2010). Caelestines A-D, brominated quinolinecarboxylic acids from the Australian ascidian Aplidium caelestis. *Journal of natural products*, *73*(9), 1586–1589. https://doi.org/10.1021/np100329w

Yool, A.J., Ramesh, S., 2020. Molecular Targets for Combined Therapeutic Strategies to Limit Glioblastoma Cell Migration and Invasion. Front. Pharmacol. 11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphar.2020.00358

Yung WK, Shapiro JR, Shapiro WR. Heterogeneous chemosensitivities of subpopulations of human glioma cells in culture. Cancer Res. 1982 Mar;42(3):992-8. PMID: 7199383.

Zhang, Y., Wang, SX., Ma, JW. *et al.* EGCG inhibits properties of glioma stem-like cells and synergizes with temozolomide through downregulation of P-glycoprotein inhibition. *J Neurooncol* **121**, 41–52 (2015). https://doi.org/10.1007/s11060-014-1604-1

APPENDICES

Resuspending NatureBank compounds for initial screening

 1μ l of compounds at 5mM concentration was received from NatureBank in a 96-welled plate. Last column (12^{th}) of every plate contained DMSO at the same concentration and volume as that of the compounds, to be used as a vehicle control. Compounds were resuspended by adding 4.5µl of DMSO to each well resulting in a final concentration of 0.9mM.

 $C_1=5mM, V_1=1\mu L; V_2=5.5\mu L$

 $C_1V_1 = C_2V_2$

 $C_2 = (C_1 V_1) / V_2$

 $C_2 = (5mM \ x \ 1\mu L)/5.5\mu L = 0.9mM$

Resuspending dried Kushen samples for experiments

Dried Kushen samples extracted in ethanol was resuspended in DMSO and samples extracted in water were resuspended in water. A 2mg/ml stock was made from an ethanol extracted dried sample that weighed 20mg. 1ml DMSO was added to it to make a 20mg/ml stock. 100µL of this was diluted with 900µl of DMSO to get 2mg/ml stock.

C₁=20mg/ml, C₂= 1mL; V₂=5.5µL

 $C_1V_1 = C_2V_2$

 $V_1 = (C_2 V_2) / C_1$

 $V_1 = (2mg/ml \ x \ 1mL)/20mg/ml = 0.1ml = 100\mu L$

Similarly, water extracted sample that weighed 60mg was resuspended in 1ml water to obtain 60mg/ml stock. 300μ L of this was added to 700μ L of water to get a final concentration of 2mg/ml. The same was followed with an ethanol extracted 50mg dried sample and a water extracted 50mg sample to obtain a final concentration of 50mg/ml. Stocks of different concentrations used in cytotoxicity assay (25mg/ml, 12.5 mg/ml, 6.25mg/ml, 3.12mg/ml, 1.5mg/ml) was made following the same calculation.

Resuspension volume calculation for transwell invasion assay

Detached cells from the culture flask were counted using a haemocytometer. 10μ L of the cell suspension was loaded on the haemocytometer and was counted under the microscope at 10x magnification. Resuspension volume is calculated as shown in the example below.

Average cell count = 72 cells in $10\mu L$

Cell density in 10ml of cell suspension = 72,000 cells/10ml

Required number of cells for performing assay = 60,000 cells/10ml

Resuspension volume = $(72,000 \times 10)/60,000 = 12$ ml

10ml of the original cell suspension was centrifuged at 4500rpm and the supernatant was discarded. The cell pellet thus obtained was resuspended in 12ml of serum free DMEM media.

Resuspending U251-MG cells for cryo-preservation

Cells were grown to 90% confluency before they were used for making cryo-preserved stocks. Cells were detached from the growth flask by trypsinisation. 10μ L of the cell suspension was used to count the number of cells on a haemocytometer. While preparing cryogenic stock of cells, the aim was to have $4x10^4$ cells/ml. Example calculation given below.

Average cell count = 176 cells in 10μ L

Cell density in 1ml of cell suspension = 17600 cells/ml

Cell density in 5ml of cell suspension = 17600 x 5 = 88000 cells in 5ml

5ml of this cell suspension was centrifuged at 4500 rpm for 5 minutes and resuspended in 2ml of complete DMEM (DMEM with no added penicillin/streptomycin, glutamax) to obtain approximately $4x10^4$ cells/ml. 500µl of this cell suspension was pipetted into a cryo vial to which 500µL freezing mix was added (freezing mix composition given below).

	Name of component	Volume of component (ml)
1.	Complete DMEM	5.5
2.	DMSO	2
3.	FBS	2.5
	Total	10

Table 3: Components of freezing mix for cryogenic preservation of cells.

Resuspending NatureBank compounds for dose response experiments

Identifies compounds from initial screening was obtained as powders in 10mM concentration. For dose response experiments different concentrations like 1mM, 0.5mM, 0.3mM, 0.1mM, 0.03mM were to be prepared. Example calculation shown below.

 $C_1=10mM, C_2=1mM; V_2=5ml$

 $C_1V_1 = C_2V_2$

 $V_1 = (C_2 V_2) / C_1$

 $V_1 = (1mM \ x \ 5ml)/10mM = 0.5ml = 0.5g$

Therefore, 0.5g of the obtained powder of the respective compound was dissolved in 5ml of DMSO to obtain 5ml of 1mM stock solution of the respective compound. This stock was used to make stocks of other concentrations.

For preparing 2ml of 0.5mM stock solution, C₁=1mM; C₂= 0.5mM; V₂=2ml

 $V_1 = (C_2 V_2)/C_1 = 1$ ml (1ml of 1mM stock in 1ml of DMSO).

Similarly, volume needed was calculated for 0.3mM, 0.1mM and 0.03mM as 0.6ml, 0.2ml and 0.06ml respectively and were made up to 2ml with DMSO.

Repurposing used inserts for experiments

Used inserts were trypsin treated to detach the cells present on them from previous experiment following which they were submerged in ethanol and were sterilized under UV light. 600μ L of 2x trypsin/EDTA was used in bottom wells and the inserts were submerged by adding 100 μ L of 2x trypsin/EDTA on top. Plates were then incubated for 34 hours at 37°C. After 34 hours, trypsin/EDTA

solution was removed, and the inserts were submerged in 600μ L of 80% ethanol in the bottom well and 100μ L of 80% ethanol on top for 10 minutes. After aspirating ethanol from the wells, inserts were air dried and were sterilised under UV light for 5 minutes on each side. Sterilised inserts were moved to a sterile 24-well plate and were stored in an airtight sterile container until further use.